          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          8

             -------------------------------x

          9

         10                 September 28, 1999

                            Start:  10:24 a.m.

         11                 Recess: 12:45 p.m.

         12                 City Hall

                            Committee Room

         13                 New York, New York

         14

                  B E F O R E:

         15

                         STANLEY MICHELS

         16                                Chairperson,

         17

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Sheldon Leffler

         18                                 Victor Robles

                                            Helen Marshall

         19                                 John Sabini

                                            Madeline Provenzano

         20                                 Stephen Fiala

                                            Angel Rodriguez

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         217 Broadway -  Suite 511

         25              New York, New York 10007

                              (800) 756-3410

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Martha Hirst

          4  Deputy Commissioner for Solid Waste

             NYC Department of Sanitation

          5

             Steven Lawitts

          6  Deputy Commissioner for Administration

             NYC Department of Sanitation

          7

             Robert Lang

          8  Director, Bureau Waste Prevention

             NYC Department of Sanitation

          9

             Eileen Chin

         10  Assistant Commissioner

             NYC Trade Waste Commission

         11

             John McCrory

         12  Executive Director

             Big Apple Garbage Sentinel

         13

             Bradley Cohen

         14  Co-Chair

             Citywide Recycling Advisory Board

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            3

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Good morning,

          3  everybody. I am Councilman Stanley Michels, and this

          4  is the Committee on Environmental Protection, and

          5  before we go into the subject for today, I would

          6  like to say that since rumors are flying hot and

          7  heavy, they are not just rumors but the

          8  implementation of the interim plan, which I believe

          9  is the interim plan for exporting of waste out of

         10  the City, and I understand that may very well be

         11  taking place on or about Friday, October 1st.

         12                 Martha, is that correct, October 1st

         13  is the implementation date?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: The next

         15  phase of the implementation plan?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes. October 1st

         17  I heard.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Well, it

         19  is likely to be mid-October.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is not Friday

         21  then?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: No, sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, that is

         24  what the rumor was. That is the only question I will

         25  ask you on that. We have a completely different
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          2  subject, but I just wanted to go on record, since

          3  everybody knows that, the fact that I believe we

          4  should have had, and before the implementation of

          5  it, an EIS, Environmental Impact Statement, and I

          6  think that would be very important for all of the

          7  boroughs on that. So that is an upset.

          8                 We are joined here this morning by

          9  Council Member Leffler from Queens, Council Member

         10  Robles from Brooklyn, and from time to time other

         11  members will be joining us.

         12                 I want to welcome you to this

         13  important hearing, and I want to extend a special

         14  welcome to representatives of the Department of

         15  Sanitation and the New York City Trade Waste

         16  Commission, who will be testifying, as well as

         17  elected officials and members of the Citywide

         18  Recycling Advisory Board, and the Borough Solid

         19  Waste Advisory Boards and other environmental

         20  advocates who are here today on this important

         21  hearing.

         22                 In recent years the Committee's main

         23  focus has been on residential recycling and

         24  improving the diversion rates of that recycling.

         25  Through its advocacy of waste reduction and
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          2  recycling, the Council's main goal is to minimize

          3  the amount of waste that is generated in the City.

          4                 On December 9th of '98, the Council

          5  voted 46 to nothing to approve Intro. No. 463, which

          6  requires weekly recycling collection to be expanded

          7  Citywide by no later than April 15th of the Year

          8  2000.

          9                 Under this legislation, weekly

         10  pick-ups were to be phased in over an 18-month

         11  period for the 41 districts that at that time had

         12  biweekly recycling collections.

         13                 With today's hearing, the Committee

         14  now intends to give greater attention to recycling

         15  of the other 50 percent of the City's waste stream,

         16  the solid waste collected by private carters. The

         17  primary purpose of this hearing is to examine the

         18  level of recycling of this waste stream and to

         19  understand the enforcement efforts being made by DOS

         20  and the Trade Waste Commission against private

         21  commercial waste firms in New York City, which

         22  collects and disposes of virtually all of the

         23  commercially-generated solid waste.

         24                 The Council in 1992 passed Intro. No.

         25  576 that amended Section 16-306 of the
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          2  Administrative Code, to require that all commercial

          3  buildings and businesses in New York City keep

          4  certain recyclable materials separate from

          5  non-recyclable refuse and arrange for them to be

          6  collected for recycling.

          7                 The new law, Local Law 87 of '92,

          8  expanded the City's recycling law to better cover

          9  commercial recycling.

         10                 Local Law 87 of '92 required that all

         11  commercial buildings and businesses arrange for

         12  collection of their recyclable materials through

         13  licensed private carting firms or private recycling

         14  companies, not with the Department of Sanitation.

         15                 However, the Department of Sanitation

         16  still monitors these activities and part of this

         17  hearing is to hear how effective the Department of

         18  Sanitation has been in monitoring the commercial

         19  sector's recycling efforts.

         20                 A recent article in the Big Apple

         21  Garbage Sentinel, which is commonly known as BAGS --

         22  as opposed to the famous jazz musician Mill Jackson,

         23  also known as Bags, I am sure those of us who like

         24  jazz understand that -- a newsletter that covers

         25  recycling, that is the BAGS we are talking about,
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          2  which covers recycling, and garbage issues in New

          3  York City, made us aware of complaints relating to

          4  compliance with the City's recycling law by the

          5  private carters and privately-owned transfer

          6  stations. This report focuses on the problems that

          7  the industry, as well as the monitors, are having

          8  supervising commercial recycling efforts.

          9                 The Committee will seek clarification

         10  from the Department of Sanitation and the Trade

         11  Waste Commission, as to who is responsible for

         12  monitoring the level of recycling undertaken by the

         13  commercial carters, generators of

         14  privately-collected waste and the private transfer

         15  stations and the enforcement efforts by City

         16  agencies to assure compliance by these entities with

         17  recycling requirements.

         18                 The Committee expects also to hear

         19  from environmental advocates who will testify to the

         20  problems that they believe exist with commercial

         21  recycling in New York City.

         22                 Let's start today in looking at the

         23  problems and gathering the solutions on improving

         24  commercial recycling in the private sector, just

         25  like we did for our residential waste.
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          2                 Our first witness will be the

          3  Sanitation Department, which will first present us

          4  with a video, and if you are ready Cecil Demill

          5  (phonetic) will be seeing this video at this

          6  particular time on commercial recycling.

          7                 Go ahead, Martha.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You better

         11  identify yourself first.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I will.

         13  Good morning to you and to members of the Committee.

         14  I am Martha Hirst, Deputy Commissioner for Solid

         15  Waste for the New York City Sanitation Department.

         16  Joining me today to my right is Deputy Commissioner

         17  for Administration Steve Lawitts. To my left is

         18  Robert Lang, Director of the Bureau of Waste

         19  Prevention, Reuse and Recycling. Also present today

         20  in the second row behind me is Steven Gongelosi, who

         21  is Director of Enforcement for the Department.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It seems like

         23  you brought all of the right people.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I hope so.

         25                 And from the Trade Waste Commission I
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          2  would like to note that Assistant Commissioner

          3  Eileen Chin is also here with us.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Hi.

          5                 And we will be hearing from her

          6  later, I take it.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Commercial

          8  recycling continually provides a challenge, a real

          9  challenge to the City's commercial and industrial

         10  sector.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do we have a

         12  copy of your testimony?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, you

         14  do. In the blue packet, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Does everybody

         16  know about that? Let us get an opportunity to open

         17  it up. Oh my God.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Number two

         19  pencils --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We like to

         21  follow you when you read your testimony.

         22                 Here we go. Continue, Martha.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MARTHA: Thank

         24  you.

         25                 In an effort to strengthen the City's
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          2  mandatory recycling law, Local Law 19, which brought

          3  certain recycling requirements to the private

          4  sector, the Council enacted, as you noted, Mr.

          5  Chairman, Local Law 87, to maximize the

          6  marketability of recyclable materials. Local Law 87

          7  was the impetus for requiring private carters to

          8  provide for the collection and assure the continued

          9  separation of designated recyclables which are

         10  source separated by commercial establishments, and

         11  the separation of other designated materials.

         12                 It was understood that commercial

         13  recycling would reduce demand on regional landfills,

         14  help meet Local Law 19 tonnage levels and reinforce

         15  residential recycling by having people recycle in

         16  the work place as well as at home.

         17                 Pursuant to Local Law 87, the

         18  Department promulgated rules in 1993 requiring

         19  commercial waste generators to source separate

         20  department-designated materials.

         21                 The rules required operators of

         22  putrescible and non-putrescible transfer stations to

         23  recycle, reuse or sell for reuse designated

         24  recyclable materials they receive, and to maintain

         25  the separation of designated and non-designated
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          2  recyclable materials.

          3                 The Department promulgated its rules

          4  after consultation with an advisory group of

          5  representatives of the business community, private

          6  carters, recycling processors, environmental

          7  organizations and other city agencies.

          8                 The rules also reflected the

          9  Department's analysis of economic markets for

         10  recyclables at the time, which factored in

         11  separation, collection and processing costs and the

         12  market value of the recyclable materials in

         13  different source separation scenarios.

         14                 Also, in 1993, the Department of

         15  Consumer Affairs promulgated rules governing post

         16  collection recycling requirements for private

         17  carters that are now enforced by the New York City

         18  Trade Waste Commission.

         19                 To design a program which best fit

         20  the needs of the City's commercial and industrial

         21  waste sector, the City sought to ensure that the

         22  source separation and post collection requirements

         23  imposed by our rules were practical and realistic.

         24                 With the enactment of Local Law 19,

         25  the Department launched a major campaign to educate
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          2  the business community, the public and those

          3  involved in handling private sector waste about

          4  commercial recycling.

          5                 This effort has been so comprehensive

          6  I would like to take a little more time than I

          7  normally would to provide some detail about the

          8  aggressive measures we have taken so that you are

          9  fully aware of the role the Department willingly

         10  plays to foster compliance and ensure that

         11  commercial generators and the waste industry have

         12  been informed of their recycling responsibilities.

         13                 To develop information and ways to

         14  reach the business community, the Department staff

         15  reach out to the SWABs, the Solid Waste Advisory

         16  Boards in each borough, trade associations,

         17  environmental groups and the New York State

         18  Department of Economic Development as it was then

         19  called.

         20                 Final draft regulations were sent to

         21  1,000 businesses, agency officials and others

         22  interested in commercial recycling.

         23                 The Department used information

         24  gleaned from this outreach to develop a brochure

         25  called "Recycling Means Business. Mandatory
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          2  Recycling in the Workplace." And a worksheet on

          3  Local Law 19's commercial recycling rules, which

          4  were mailed to 212,000 companies in the yellow

          5  pages.

          6                 To spread the word, the brochure and

          7  the letter were mailed to 750 trade and business

          8  organizations. Each and every organization was

          9  called as well, resulting in one-fourth of them

         10  requesting additional brochures.

         11                 Four-thousand letters and brochures

         12  went to community organizations, again with

         13  follow-up calls to those with an environmental

         14  focus.

         15                 Information packets were sent and

         16  follow-up calls made to 150 City, state and federal

         17  elected officials representing all five boroughs,

         18  and to the 59 community boards.

         19                 A letter and brochure went to the 400

         20  or so private carters, then licensed to operate in

         21  New York City. A letter and copy of the commercial

         22  recycling regulations were sent to each and every

         23  transfer station operator. To keep the Department's

         24  staff abreast of these developments, brochures and

         25  information were given to superintendents and four
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          2  people in all 59 collection districts. Also, Con

          3  Edison and Brooklyn Union in certain commercial

          4  recycling notices in their bills to business

          5  customers.

          6                 To follow up on that initial effort,

          7  the recycling reminder brochure then went to 30,000

          8  of the largest commercial generators representing 15

          9  percent of the City's businesses and about half of

         10  the commercial waste generated in the City.

         11                 The Department organized a

         12  well-attended multi-sponsor commercial recycling

         13  seminar, hosted by American Express at the World

         14  Financial Center, which disseminated materials to

         15  the sponsoring organizations. The public was kept

         16  informed through a reminder ad on commercial and

         17  residential recycling that appeared on a quarter of

         18  the City's bus fleet and in every subway car.

         19                 Additional reminder mass mailings

         20  were done to trade and business associations,

         21  licensed transfer stations, elected officials,

         22  community boards and SWABs.

         23                 Commercial recycling reminders aired

         24  on 15 radio stations and cable TV announcement

         25  boards.
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          2                 With the enactment of the commercial

          3  recycling rules now in effect, the Department

          4  developed the guide to mandatory recycling in the

          5  workplace, a copy of which you have in your packet.

          6                 It explains the new rules and

          7  outlines steps to help small businesses set up

          8  recycling programs.

          9                 The new guide was distributed to

         10  200,000 businesses trade and business associations,

         11  private carters, elected officials and community

         12  boards, and again, followed up with telephone calls.

         13                 Con Ed and Brooklyn Union again added

         14  newsletters in their bills to alert commercial

         15  customers to the recycling requirements. Print ads

         16  ran in local and trade newspapers and the Department

         17  co-sponsored a series of large, well-attended

         18  commercial recycling seminars.

         19                 As with the first seminar hosted by

         20  American Express, these seminars involve sponsors

         21  that represented key commercial sector constituents,

         22  and provided a good way to reach the targeted

         23  audience beyond the event itself.

         24                 These seminars were followed by

         25  borough-based seminars, that were co-sponsored by
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          2  each Chamber of Commerce and local business groups.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Let me interrupt

          4  you one second. When was all of this done, what

          5  year?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: This has

          7  been done all in the past six years.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Since '93.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And all of the

         11  things that you cited in this particular statement,

         12  this is all done within how many years?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: This has

         14  all been done over the past six years. It has been

         15  an ongoing effort.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Was it done this

         17  year too?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Excuse me?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Was it done this

         20  year as well?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I will be

         22  talking a little bit more about our ongoing efforts

         23  to continue --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am talking

         25  about all of these seminars and all of these ads, I
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          2  haven't heard them recently.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: We haven't

          4  had a business seminar within the past year that I

          5  can recall, but we have had a number of them -- I

          6  have participated in a number of them particularly

          7  with local business development groups. So they

          8  continue to occur. What I think you see happening is

          9  we set this foundation which was a huge, huge

         10  foundation, and now we find that in local community

         11  the business sector itself organizes itself around

         12  these issues.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The reason I am

         14  asking is, you talk about 1993 is when it started,

         15  when you passed the rules and regulations to all of

         16  these things you are listing, and admittedly I am

         17  not in the commercial world, but I am just trying to

         18  remember these various things. You say you did all

         19  of these letters that went out, this was done when?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: This has

         21  all been done over a six-year period, in 1993.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But it was

         23  started when, and when --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: '93, '94,

         25  '95, '96.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Continually

          3  being done, or was it done at certain times?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: The

          5  efforts I have just described were done as part of a

          6  massive program.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: From when?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: From 1993

          9  to 1996.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Oh, I see. Okay,

         11  so '96 was the last time?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: At this

         13  level. As extensive, yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am not trying

         15  to interrupt you here but you are talking about one

         16  level and now you are doing something else.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So this was done

         19  between 1983 and 1986.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I will vouch

         22  for you.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Is that on

         24  the record?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Leffler will
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          2  vouch for you.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Mr.

          4  Leffler will vouch for me. I am making a note. Mill

          5  Jackson and Sheldon Leffler in one hearing, I

          6  couldn't feel better.

          7                 With the completion of the initial

          8  phases of outreach, the Department embarked on a

          9  massive site visit program that brought commercial

         10  recycling information, commercial generators in

         11  lower Manhattan.

         12                 Department outreach staff also

         13  conducted a phone calling campaign to all the trade

         14  associations and private carters in the City.

         15                 On an ongoing basis, the Department

         16  has continued to provide information on commercial

         17  recycling through a number of channels. Among them

         18  currently is the Business To Business Yellow Page

         19  Directory, which if you look in any Business To

         20  Business Yellow Pages you will see prominently in

         21  the early pages of the directory all the information

         22  a commercial business needs to set up its recycling

         23  program.

         24                 I think an excerpt from it might be

         25  in the packet here. And the Sanitation Action
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          2  Center, our Information Services Hot Line, 219-8090.

          3  Another information channel is the Trade Waste

          4  Commission, through which the Department has

          5  provided print and video material to industry.

          6                 Further, we continue to participate

          7  in seminars and trade shows, that is what I meant,

          8  Mr. Chairman, the difference between our initiatives

          9  and setting up seminars, we now participate in

         10  business community seminars and trade shows at which

         11  recycling is one aspect of, for instance, seminars

         12  in cost savings and bottom line changes and so

         13  forth.

         14                 These provide opportunities for

         15  reminding commercial sector participants about

         16  recycling responsibilities.

         17                 Finally, of course, we answer

         18  hundreds of letters each year, each day, I signed

         19  three yesterday myself, about commercial recycling

         20  requirements, automatically including our brochures

         21  and guides on mandatory commercial recycling in each

         22  response.

         23                 We have a video we produced, you will

         24  be familiar with it I think, Mr. Chairman, because

         25  it was part of the packet of videos we produced in
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          2  the last several years, but I thought we might take

          3  a few minutes just to show the basics here so you

          4  can understand, and members of the Committee, how

          5  fundamental the information is that we make

          6  available.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, while you

          8  are setting that up, I did note that you have had --

          9  we had the little red lighthouse event a couple of

         10  weeks ago and there was a table there on recycling.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And have you

         13  done that in all of these block association block

         14  parties?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: We do. Our

         16  staff is busy, and you can see them coming and going

         17  at Beaver Street loading up the trunks of our

         18  outreach vehicles to be able to go out to fairs all

         19  around the City, particularly in the fall and

         20  spring, as you might guess.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It seems

         22  appropriate, considering all of the dirt and the

         23  papers and all of these street closings when they do

         24  those parties. It is an unbelievable amount, and it

         25  is another issue I want to talk to you about.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: It is an

          3  issue we focus on, the recycling requirements at

          4  street fairs and what the regulations are. We can

          5  talk about it at another time, if you like.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you have any

          7  idea how many street fairs we have in the City a

          8  year?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I don't

         10  know that number off-hand. I know it is thousands

         11  but I can't tell you specifically.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: But we do

         14  have requirements which the Department imposes on

         15  the organizers of street fairs.

         16                 Barbara reminds me that the packet

         17  about mandatory recycling at street events is in

         18  your package of material, so you can refer to it.

         19                 You will recognize the characters,

         20  Mr. Chairman.

         21                 (Video Shown.)

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I thought

         23  we could stop at that point, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How much longer

         25  does it go on?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Just

          3  another minute or so.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That was very

          5  nicely done.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Thank you.

          7                 During Fiscal Year 1999, the

          8  Department issued a total of 10,585 notices of

          9  violation Citywide to commercial establishments

         10  which fail to source separate designated recyclable

         11  materials in the manner you just saw illustrated in

         12  the video, as compared to Fiscal Year '98 when the

         13  Department issued a total of 11,022 notices of

         14  violation by commercial establishments.

         15                 The Department maintained the same

         16  number of recycling enforcement personnel in those

         17  years, and we attribute the decrease, although it is

         18  modest, in the number of notices of violation issued

         19  to better understanding among merchants on how to

         20  recycle properly.

         21                 In this experience the Department has

         22  found that transfer stations operators are complying

         23  with the recycling and separation requirements

         24  imposed by the Department's rules.

         25                 The Department's Permit and
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          2  Inspection Unit, the PIU, conducts monthly

          3  inspections of all transfer station facilities to

          4  ascertain their compliance with operating

          5  requirements under separate department rules.

          6                 During these regular inspections, PIU

          7  officers also inspect materials received at each

          8  facility, to determine whether separated recyclable

          9  materials are being commingled with non-designated

         10  materials and waste.

         11                 To date, PIU officers have found no

         12  basis to issue notices of violation to transfer

         13  station operators of recycling violations.

         14                 Since the markets for recyclable

         15  materials establish their value, transfer station

         16  operators are fully cognizant of the economic

         17  benefits that can be derived from ensuring that

         18  recyclables are separated for subsequent resale

         19  instead of paying for transport and disposal.

         20                 Non-putrescible transfer stations

         21  typically employ pickers, persons who remove

         22  recyclable materials by hand from construction and

         23  demolition debris loads.

         24                 In a load generated from a typical

         25  home remodeling project, for example, the pickers
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          2  extract lumber, sheetrock and non-designated

          3  recyclables, and separate out the concrete and

          4  designated recyclables which can be recycled, reused

          5  or sold.

          6                 In the same way and for the same

          7  reason, it makes sense to do it, putrescible

          8  transfer stations extract as many uncontaminated

          9  recyclables from their loads as possible, when it

         10  makes economic sense for them to do it.

         11                 As you noted a Big Apple Garbage

         12  Sentinel or BAGS report, suggests that the

         13  Department's method of calculating a commercial

         14  recycling rate is misleading. The BAGS report refers

         15  to a diversion rate of 4.1 percent, extracted from

         16  the Department's diversion report. I have a copy of

         17  a page from that most recent report attached to this

         18  testimony, Mr. Chairman.

         19                 This report provides the latest

         20  diversion data from January through March. The one

         21  referred to in the BAGS report was the previous

         22  quarter's data.

         23                 The 4.1 percent number is located in

         24  the upper left corner in the putrescible transfer

         25  station section, at the column entitled "current
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          2  month" and line labeled "total diversion", if you

          3  see it.

          4                 However, the BAGS report refers only

          5  to this putrescible transfer station number, and

          6  does not include the other two types of transfer

          7  stations which process commercial material.

          8                 Toward the middle of the page, you

          9  can see that the total commercial recycling

         10  diversion at all three types of facilities combined

         11  is 61.6 percent in fact this year, 57 percent in the

         12  same month last year. I am sorry, 57.8 percent is

         13  the total diversion, looking at all three aspects of

         14  commercial recycling whose diversion we monitor.

         15                 The BAGS report also suggest that the

         16  term commercial waste is commonly limited to

         17  putrescible waste. This statement is incorrect, and

         18  it is inconsistent with our commercial recycling

         19  rules. If you check the State of New York reports

         20  you will see that it is incorrect within the State

         21  of New York, as well as among solid waste

         22  professionals around the country who measure this

         23  information.

         24                 Specifically our Department's rules

         25  designate construction waste as recyclable material,
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          2  excluding only plaster wall covering, drywall,

          3  roofing shingles, wood, lumber and glass window

          4  panes. Nothing in this section of the rules

          5  precludes the concrete and dirt components of

          6  construction waste as designated recyclable

          7  materials.

          8                 Likewise, the BAGS report suggests

          9  that the scrapmetal contained in construction and

         10  demolition debris again ought not be counted toward

         11  recycling diversion by the Department.

         12                 However, because under the same rule

         13  section, the Department has designated metal

         14  components of bulk waste as a recyclable material.

         15  It is appropriate to count and gets counted.

         16                 The BAGS report suggests that the

         17  Department is using these categories to inflate

         18  commercial recycling diversion rates so as to

         19  mislead the public.

         20                 In fact, the Department enumerates

         21  and counts these categories because they are

         22  designated as recyclable materials under the

         23  Department's rules. Clearly the data provided by the

         24  Department in its quarterly diversion reports is not

         25  misleading, it is straightforward and it is
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          2  authorized under the law.

          3                 An even more significant fact,

          4  however, is that the actual rate of recycling and

          5  New York City commercial establishments is higher

          6  than the rate reported by the Department. Our

          7  reports do not include recyclable paper delivered to

          8  paper only processing facilities, for example.

          9  Including the material delivered to the VISY paper

         10  mill on Staten Island, or recyclable metal delivered

         11  to scrap facilities.

         12                 Since these types of facilities are

         13  not regulated by the Department, they do not report

         14  and are not required to report their recycling

         15  activities to us, beyond the reports that we receive

         16  from the processors under contract with the City of

         17  New York.

         18                 Nearly all of the material delivered

         19  to these types of facilities is recycled, and in

         20  fact this is the primary mechanism uses in the

         21  commercial sector for processing recyclables. The

         22  source separated material that leaves commercial

         23  establishments is brought to these facilities which

         24  are not regulated by the Department but which handle

         25  the lion's share of the commercial recyclables in
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          2  the City of New York. So they are not captured in

          3  our diversion rate, and if they were, the number

          4  would be even higher than reported by the Department

          5  of Sanitation.

          6                 In addition, the Department's reports

          7  obviously do not include material collected from New

          8  York City commercial establishments that is

          9  delivered to processing facilities located in the

         10  region but outside the City of New York.

         11                 In sum, Mr. Chairman, commercial

         12  recycling is working in the City of New York. We

         13  have provided a huge amount of information and

         14  assistance to the commercial sector. The commercial

         15  and business facilities in the City of New York are

         16  recycling, the Trade Waste Commission is ensuring

         17  that they have private carters who are appropriately

         18  licensed and who do recycle the material, and our

         19  job now is to ensure that that continues and it

         20  glows.

         21                 I thank you for providing me the

         22  opportunity to keep you informed of all we have done

         23  and all we are continuing to do to promote and

         24  enforce compliance with our rules and regs governing

         25  commercial recycling in New York City and I am happy
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          2  to answer any questions you might have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 We have with us who has joined also,

          6  besides Mr. Leffler and Mr. Robles, we have Council

          7  Member Provenzano from the Bronx and Council Member

          8  Fiala from Staten Island. Thank you.

          9                 One of the things that occurred to me

         10  during your statement was that you talk about

         11  enforcement with respect to the establishment that

         12  produced the waste, and you talk about where the

         13  waste is delivered, as far as regulation and giving

         14  various summonses and such.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What, if any,

         17  summonses have you been giving out to the private

         18  carters, the delivery of the trucks that actually

         19  deliver the garbage from the source to the new waste

         20  establishments.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: The

         22  summonses that we issue are primarily to the

         23  commercial generators. Their obligation is to

         24  separate the material.

         25                 The carters' obligation is to collect
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          2  the material. The summonses that I spoke of are

          3  addressed for the commercial generators, not to the

          4  private carters.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand

          6  that, but I am asking, do you have jurisdiction to

          7  give summonses to the private carters who violate

          8  the law? You have certain regulations on what they

          9  are supposed to be doing also, isn't that correct?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, we

         11  do.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And what are the

         13  rules and regulations pertaining to them? What are

         14  they supposed to be doing?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Their

         16  obligation is to collect the recyclable materials

         17  and keep the recyclables separate from putrescible

         18  waste.

         19                 We have the authority to issue

         20  summonses to them. We have not broken out of that

         21  number, that 10,500 number, the number specifically

         22  to carters, I could certainly follow up with you on

         23  that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The point being

         25  that if they don't put the waste, the recyclables in
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          2  the right vehicles, or if they mix them in the wrong

          3  way, they can contaminate some of the recyclables.

          4                 For instance, you want to keep the

          5  cardboard and paper in separate trucks.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, we

          7  do. And we don't have evidence that there is a

          8  problem in that regard, but I will follow up with

          9  you and give you that number.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What I am

         11  saying, you enforce it.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are you

         14  inspecting to see that it is done? Because we talked

         15  about the pick up and we talked about where it

         16  ultimately goes, but we didn't talk about, we don't

         17  talk about your statement of the deliverers of the

         18  materials.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: You should

         20  know that in the commercial sector, material gets

         21  sent out and delivery occurs, as any of us know who

         22  live in a New York City neighborhood with commercial

         23  establishments in it, in the evening and at night.

         24  And that is when our enforcement personnel are out

         25  in fact, and so we do indeed stop trucks when we see
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          2  them on site to see how they are loading the

          3  material and summonses do get issued by our

          4  enforcement personnel. I will be glad to follow up

          5  with you on the number, I don't have it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You don't have

          7  the numbers now?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: No, sir, I

          9  don't.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I just want to

         11  make sure you are doing that enforcement.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now, what is the

         14  difference between, the distinction in the

         15  difference between your jurisdiction and the Trade

         16  Waste Commission jurisdiction, with respect to the

         17  materials, the issues you are talking about?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Trade

         19  Waste licenses the private carters. They don't

         20  license the transfer stations, they don't impose

         21  requirements on commercial separators, they license

         22  the carters and their jurisdiction goes to carters'

         23  activity and pricing and so forth.

         24                 One of the things we have done

         25  working together with trade waste is to be sure that
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          2  they are providing the right information. If you are

          3  a commercial establishment interested to secure a

          4  contract or change contracts, the Trade Waste

          5  Commission provides information to you as to what to

          6  look for, and a form contract, which Eileen Chin

          7  could speak more about if you would like. But

          8  included in that form contract are all of the

          9  elements of the requirements for private carters, so

         10  that you as the customer have an idea of what the

         11  carters' obligations are under the law, and that is

         12  the basis of the Trade Waste Commission's

         13  jurisdiction, as well as obviously background.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the rules

         15  and regulations set forth by the Department of

         16  Sanitation are the same rules and regulations that

         17  are being forced by the Trade Waste.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: That's

         19  correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I guess I

         21  should ask them as to what they do by way of

         22  enforcement.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I will ask them

         25  when the young lady testifies.
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          2                 Now, you have four different

          3  categories of commercial customers who do not use

          4  the City's Department of Sanitation. Do you want to

          5  tell us what those four different categories are? I

          6  mean the food and beverage establishments, high-rise

          7  buildings?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Right.

          9  Well, in the commercial sector we actually think of

         10  it as two different categories, food or beverage

         11  service establishments and everybody else.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now what does

         13  everybody else include?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Everybody

         15  else is everybody who is not primarily a food and

         16  beverage establishment, non-restaurants, non-bars

         17  all of those other businesses are required to

         18  recycle paper materials primarily and textiles, if

         19  they have a large quantity.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And there are

         21  different rules pertaining to what they have to

         22  recycle and the method of recycling.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, there

         24  are. The method for handling the materials that are

         25  identical in both sectors are the same, but with
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          2  respect to food or beverage service establishments,

          3  they have an obligation, as you might guess, given

          4  the quantities of glass and beverage containers and

          5  metal, glass and plastic and so forth that primarily

          6  come out of kitchens and bars, to package those

          7  things in clear or blue bags, much the way we do as

          8  residents of the City.

          9                 They have to tie corrugated and

         10  separate paper in the same fashion we do, as the

         11  video outlined.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are joined by

         13  Mr. Sabini. Welcome. From Queens.

         14                 Now, I learned something that I guess

         15  I assumed wrong, and that is, that office buildings

         16  are not required to recycle the beverage containers?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Our rules

         18  talk about beverages consumed on the premises, they

         19  don't mean the individual diet coke can that is on a

         20  worker's desk, but rather when there is a quantity

         21  of those materials, if there is a cafeteria in the

         22  business establishment there is an obligation but

         23  the volume of waste in a commercial building that

         24  does not have a food and service facility of some

         25  sort on the premises is quite minuscule, and so
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          2  under the rules there is not a requirement at this

          3  time for source separation of those cans and bottles

          4  that you might get, among office workers.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is there any

          6  requirement to be recycled? I thought everybody has

          7  to recycle food and beverage containers. We do it in

          8  our homes and I thought it was required that it be

          9  done.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, there

         11  is that requirement, and we do encourage, we talk a

         12  lot with commercial establishments who are, for

         13  instance, redesigning their offices and renovating

         14  and so forth, and always we talk about the ways of

         15  building it into the commercial environment. But in

         16  terms of source separation and there are obligations

         17  under this law, there is not that obligation to

         18  source separate the cans and bottles for commercial.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But is there any

         20  obligation to recycle those cans and bottles in

         21  commercial establishments?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: There is

         23  the obligation to recycle them, but they are not

         24  required to source separate them under the contract

         25  with their private carter.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How do they

          3  recycle them?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Much the

          5  way we do as individual residents, return them in

          6  the instance of the returnable bottles and cans.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is very

          8  interesting. I know it is not the subject of this

          9  hearing, but let me -- do you have any idea, if you

         10  could tell me, if not you can find out later, the

         11  percentage of the beverages that are out in the

         12  stream of commerce are actually returned to the

         13  establishment for the nickel deposit?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST:

         15  Historically the number has been about half. I think

         16  it is slightly higher in the City of New York. But I

         17  will double-check that figure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is that high?

         19  I don't see anybody returning them anymore when I go

         20  to the stores.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Bob tells

         22  me the number in the City of New York is roughly 65

         23  percent these days. It is quite high.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The big thing is

         25  the fact that the other 35 percent, the money for
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          2  those is some place upstate New York and never

          3  received.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: We have

          5  discussed this many times.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I don't know how

          7  many millions of dollars are there, which everybody

          8  is trying to get a hold of to do the various

          9  programs, but there are millions of dollars out

         10  there.

         11                 Now, what type of violations are

         12  there issued to the transfer stations themselves for

         13  commercial establishments?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: For

         15  transfer stations?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We have a

         17  category of violations. You did indicate that you

         18  give out violations to transfer stations.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: We can

         20  give out violations to transfer stations.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You do.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Our

         23  Permits and Inspections Unit, as I reported, does

         24  not typically do that. They have not found the

         25  problem of source separated recyclables being
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          2  contaminated into the waste of the facilities.

          3                 Our Director of Enforcement, Steve

          4  Congelosi, could explain to you the kind of

          5  summonses we issue.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I want to

          7  establish that there is no requirement that all

          8  materials be source separated. There is a whole

          9  category of post collection separation. That is a

         10  huge job of these transfer stations.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: It is a

         12  huge job and the requirement is that fundamentally,

         13  the materials, the fundamental burden as with us as

         14  residents of the City rest with the generator of the

         15  material. The commercial establishment's obligation

         16  is to ensure that that material is separated at the

         17  source.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is source

         19  separation.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We did provide

         22  in the legislation, and you do provide in your

         23  rules, that in certain instances you are providing

         24  for post collection separation and that involves

         25  both putrescibles and nonputrescibles; am I correct?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, there

          3  are post collection separation requirements, but

          4  they do not go to -- you saw the waste at the

          5  Freshkills Landfill --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I just came

          7  across a picture of you and me when we were out

          8  there together at home. That was some years ago when

          9  you and I were there.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: That was

         11  some years ago.

         12                 Well, you remember that visit, then

         13  you know the waste that is there is basically

         14  putrescible waste, the bags have just been broken

         15  open.

         16                 Commercial --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Out there the

         18  commercial establishments are not bringing our --

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: No, but --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They were not

         21  using Freshkills, were they? It was mostly

         22  residential.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: That's

         24  right, not after the Council raised -- together

         25  actually, the previous administration and Council
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          2  raised the tip fee at the landfill and it had the

          3  effect of commercial waste going to alternate sites.

          4                 The waste, however, that you saw,

          5  putrescible waste in those bags, is what you would

          6  see at a private transfer station, a putrescible

          7  transfer station as well. The way it typically works

          8  for a commercial generator is paper is separated, if

          9  it is a food service establishment, the metal, glass

         10  and plastic, because it is substantial, is

         11  separated, cardboard is tied. You see these bundles

         12  put out at the curb at the close of a business day

         13  of any business.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are they

         15  utilizing the VISY and the 59th Street transfer

         16  station --

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, a

         18  number of commercial vendors are. VISY received

         19  several thousand tons last year from private carters

         20  through that transfer stations.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And they sell

         22  them independently also?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Private

         24  vendors sell it independently, and many vendors

         25  drive directly to VISY and don't use the 59th Street
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          2  MTS.

          3                 So, the paper gets picked up

          4  separately. If there is metal, glass and plastic, it

          5  gets picked up separately.

          6                 The putrescible waste that remains

          7  from that building is taken to a private transfer

          8  station. And typically --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Or it is

         10  supposed to be taken.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: That's

         12  right.

         13                 Typically those loads, the lion's

         14  share of them are in fact putrescible waste. If

         15  there are some recyclables mixed in, but they are

         16  contaminated by the waste, the vendor at the

         17  transfer station is not likely to be further

         18  separating that waste. I think this gets to the

         19  heart of the issue of some people's perceptions

         20  about what is going on about putrescible transfer

         21  stations.

         22                 The commercial recycling that is

         23  going on in this City is largely going on just the

         24  way I described to you and effectively. The paper is

         25  tied and bundled separately, metal, glass and
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          2  plastic, if there is some and there is a requirement

          3  for it goes separately. Most of that material is

          4  going where it is supposed to.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Isn't it true

          6  under certain situations metal, glass and plastic is

          7  put in with putrescibles in the trucks, and if the

          8  bags don't break open we are fine.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Right. And

         10  if there is not enough of it, if there is not enough

         11  of it or if it is contaminated by the putrescible

         12  waste at the transfer station, they will not,

         13  because it won't make economic sense for them to do

         14  it, have a picking line where they pull that

         15  material out of the waste stream.

         16                 Obviously the fundament on the

         17  commercial side is that aspect, when material is

         18  higher in value or there is a greater quantity of

         19  it, you will see more pickers at these facilities.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is it true, to

         21  your knowledge, that with the state's permission, I

         22  guess they have to have the state's permission, the

         23  Department of Environmental Conservation, that some

         24  of the commercial establishments have taken out

         25  their materials, the equipment needed for source
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          2  separation, for post collection separation?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I know

          4  that to be true at one establishment, Waste

          5  Management, in Brooklyn where --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Our information

          7  is it is at three different establishments.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: That may

          9  be. I only know myself on a factual basis of one,

         10  and that is Waste Management in Brooklyn.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And does that

         12  tell you there is a policy change being made by

         13  Waste Management, as far as retrieving recyclables

         14  from the putrescible collections?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I think

         16  you need to speak to waste management about it.

         17  Certainly they were making more space available at

         18  that particular facility for putrescible waste. It

         19  is a putrescible transfer station.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: For the interim

         21  plan.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: For the

         23  interim plan, that is correct. And other customers.

         24                 Their recyclables are being

         25  redirected to another of their facilities, both
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          2  source separated materials are appropriately going

          3  to that other facility, so far as we know.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are not

          5  really talking about source separation, because you

          6  don't need the --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: You are

          8  really talking about the circumstances under which

          9  private putrescible transfer station owners pick

         10  through putrescible waste for recyclables, and they

         11  do that when there is either a quantity of material

         12  that is not contaminated, or it makes really sound

         13  economic sense for them to incur the cost of doing

         14  that. And when the volume isn't substantial, or the

         15  waste isn't substantially contaminated, you won't

         16  see it happen, it is a business decision.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I have in front

         18  of me, a graph that I understand was put together by

         19  the Brooklyn Borough President's office. Do you have

         20  a copy of it?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I don't

         22  know what graph you are referring to, Mr. Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, I will

         24  show it to you. But it is a graph put together by

         25  the Brooklyn Borough President supposedly using data
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          2  from the Department of Sanitation for this year -- I

          3  am sorry, the four quarters of '98, which shows the

          4  first quarter that the diversion rate for recyclable

          5  materials for putrescible was like 17.1 percent and

          6  the fourth quarter was 0.9 percent. It shows a huge

          7  change and it is constantly going down, from 17 to

          8  14 to 12 to 9.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Commercial

         10  recycling diversion?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The commercial

         12  recycling diversion of putrescibles. Do you have any

         13  figures?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Is this a

         15  Brooklyn number? First of all, we haven't seen the

         16  graph so perhaps we can.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I will show it

         18  to you. Can I have the Sergeant please? I will show

         19  you the chart. It is important to show it to you and

         20  have you know about it.

         21                 Do you have any indications from the

         22  figures you have that there has been a marked change

         23  in the amount of recycling from putrescibles by the

         24  private carters?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: No, sir.
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          2  We have the numbers that I shared with you in my

          3  testimony, which include not just putrescible

          4  transfer stations but all three, but at putrescibles

          5  I point out --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You break out

          7  putrescibles?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, we

          9  do. I point out that in this quarterly report, as

         10  compared -- which was for January, February and

         11  March of '99, as compared to those three months in

         12  '98. There was a change in that number, 4.1 percent

         13  diversion on our numbers at putrescible transfer

         14  stations, as compared to 10.5. But in the previous

         15  quarter to the 10.5 percent, the number had been

         16  5.7. So, the point of that is, the number goes up

         17  and down. These are commodities and when the

         18  transfer stations believe that it makes sense to

         19  further pick, to go through the putrescible waste

         20  and further pick out recyclables when it makes

         21  economic sense for them they do it.

         22                 Otherwise, the source separation

         23  program that is required under the law is the

         24  program that is followed and commercial generators

         25  are doing very well with that program.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What I am

          3  concerned about, since we have spent so much time

          4  over the last several years concentrating on the

          5  residential recycling program, that we really

          6  haven't had any hearings or done anything on

          7  commercial recycling, and I am very concerned with

          8  reports that I have received from the Big Apple,

          9  which you criticize, and I am not here to make any

         10  judgments, just to get information, that there has

         11  been some sort of a decision made by the commercial

         12  establishment that they are not going to look for

         13  recyclable materials for putrescible, and they are

         14  going to lump them in, and just dump them, and we

         15  understand even from the food and beverage

         16  establishments.

         17                 So you don't have any information

         18  that there has been any policy change, or that we

         19  are finding that the food and beverage

         20  establishments that are supposed to do collection of

         21  recyclables and keep them separate, the source

         22  separation, as a matter of fact, and not lumping

         23  them in with the putrescibles and just dumping them

         24  and not doing any --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: No, sir,
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          2  we don't have that information. And we do have an

          3  enforcement staff, which wrote the 10,000 summonses

          4  which we pointed out to you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You don't know

          6  what percentage of those are from commercial

          7  beverage --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Food and

          9  beverage as opposed to -- no, I don't know that we

         10  have that information. I can see and try to get it

         11  to you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Let's see if we

         13  can find that out.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Leffler, you

         16  had a question? Oh, I am sorry, Mr. Robles has a

         17  question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you.

         19  Martha, Commissioner, respectfully as a friend,

         20  Martha, let me understand the text because I am a

         21  little confused.

         22                 In there you mention that in Fiscal

         23  Year '99, the Department itself issued a total of

         24  10,585 notice of violations Citywide to commercial

         25  establishments. Yet, let me make sure I understand
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          2  who got the violations. Are these transfer station

          3  operators?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: No, sir.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Who actually

          6  got the violations?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Business

          8  owners who fail to set their recyclables out

          9  properly.

         10                 The commercial establishment itself.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So, is it fair

         12  to say that these commercial establishment owners

         13  could be operating within a transfer station

         14  atmosphere?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Their

         16  waste is hauled by private carters who go to private

         17  transfer stations.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: No, that is

         19  not my question. Again, I am trying to understand

         20  who is getting these violations because.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: The

         22  business owner.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Who are they?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Who are

         25  they specifically?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Yes.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: They are

          4  any number of business establishments across the

          5  City. It might be the office building across the

          6  street from my office.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: You mentioned

          8  one in my district. Is Waste Management one of them?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: No, sir.

         10  That is not a commercial establishment.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I am

         13  talking about an office building, like J&R across

         14  the street.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay, fine.

         16                 When you say that you have PIU

         17  officers on a monthly basis, allegedly they inspect.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Transfer

         19  stations.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Separate from

         21  the violations of commercial.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

         24                 Of those commercial, 10,000 plus, do

         25  you have a breakdown of where they were found in
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          2  violation, i.e. boroughs, community districts, since

          3  we are now talking about coterminous so that if I in

          4  northern Brooklyn went to see the commercial

          5  establishments that are violating the law within my

          6  district, how do I know of the 10,000 which ones in

          7  my district fall in those categories?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: We could

          9  make that information available to you. I don't have

         10  it today but we will certainly know it by borough

         11  and we could make it available.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Fine. Would

         13  you do that?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Second, and

         16  let me make sure I understand it. Now let's move to

         17  this monthly inspections by PIU officers. They

         18  inspect who?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: The PIU

         20  officers inspect private transfer stations.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: These are the

         22  private transfer stations that your agency, along

         23  with other regulatory agencies, give them a permit

         24  to operate, is that fair to say?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

          3                 Now, it says to date, PIU officers

          4  have found no basis to issue notice of violations

          5  for transfer stations operating for recycling

          6  violations.

          7                 Are you saying to me that -- well,

          8  let me go back again, I want to make sure I

          9  understand what you said. You are saying that those

         10  transfer stations, as you indicate, are inspected on

         11  a monthly basis? Is that what I am hearing?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, they

         13  are.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Do you have

         15  also a similar report that shows in North Brooklyn,

         16  in my district I can see on a monthly basis how

         17  often you have gone there?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, we

         19  do.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And based upon

         21  what you are saying, you are saying to me that --

         22  well, let me say this: In Fiscal Year '99, since we

         23  are into Fiscal Year 2000, no violations whatsoever

         24  were found at any transfer stations throughout the

         25  City, since your statement says that to date PIU
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          2  officers have found no basis to issue notice of

          3  violation; is that what you are saying to me?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: With

          5  respect to recycling, with respect to those transfer

          6  stations handling recyclable material, other than

          7  how they are required to under the law. The answer

          8  is yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: However, the

         10  chairman then moved it a little further, and let me

         11  get to that.

         12                 They asked a question whether your

         13  Department also can issue violations on other

         14  violations that fall within the law; is that what I

         15  thought I heard you say to the chair?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: At

         17  transfer stations?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Yes.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, sir.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay. Now, in

         21  those transfer stations, in Fiscal Year '99, has

         22  there been violations issued to those transfer

         23  stations? Maybe not the recycling, but violating the

         24  law?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Is that

          3  material available, so, again -- because I am going

          4  to tell you something, I am being parochial right

          5  now, but I must tell you, I am troubled. I do get

          6  from your agency every so often a letter saying that

          7  this location operation permit is up for renewal and

          8  then you are asking me to comment on whether it

          9  should or should not.

         10                 My problem is that honestly, I take

         11  the position in this case of the Borough President

         12  of Brooklyn, and the community boards of, not only

         13  North Brooklyn, but I see my colleague here, which

         14  is in the absence of facts, and in the absence of

         15  knowing, like -- I mean, I suggest you consider

         16  adding before you sent those letters on a regular

         17  basis monthly those reports that will help me to

         18  understand whether it is Waste Management, whether

         19  it is BFI, whether it is any of them, whether they

         20  are really good neighbors, so that when you ask me

         21  to then go on record whether I believe they should

         22  be given the renewal, I will do that based upon what

         23  you have provided us.

         24                 So, again, if there has been

         25  violations, and your officers go out on a monthly
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          2  basis, do you provide us with that information?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I will

          4  have to check. That is not a bureau that is under my

          5  jurisdiction.

          6                 You are suggesting that we don't, so

          7  let me follow up with the Commissioner and get back

          8  to you about it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me just

         10  say this, Mr. Chairman. My problem with this whole

         11  thing, my problem is honestly it is difficult to try

         12  to get a handle on -- you have this agency, then you

         13  are going to have the Commission, the Trade Waste

         14  Commission come and then you are going to ask the

         15  question about what is your enforcement powers.

         16                 I need some kind of coordination to

         17  know who do I turn to? Who is responsible for what?

         18  And clearly, I need to know in the Department of

         19  Sanitation, if there are components, but it is all

         20  the same law or for the most part, how do we get a

         21  handle?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: My basic

         23  understanding, and the Commissioner will listen and

         24  tell me if I am wrong, I mean the rules of conduct,

         25  as far as the recycling is concerned and picking up
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          2  of putrescibles, is the Department of Sanitation's,

          3  and their rules and their law, and that is the law

          4  that is followed by the Department of Sanitation and

          5  the Trade Waste Commission.

          6                 The Trade Waste Commission's main job

          7  originally was the licensing of these private

          8  carters and the routing out of corruption, but they

          9  also are involved in enforcement, but they

         10  enforcement they do is the enforcement of the rules

         11  and regulations of the Department of Sanitation;

         12  isn't that correct?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, but I

         14  believe Mr. Robles is speaking to the violations

         15  issued by our Permits and Inspections Unit to

         16  transfer stations, and that you are interested to

         17  know that information with respect to specific

         18  transfer stations in your district, and I will go

         19  back to get that information.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is in the

         21  Department of Sanitation, but if someone from the

         22  Trade Waste Commission is there and he finds those

         23  violations, he could issue those violations as well;

         24  isn't that correct?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: That's
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          2  correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me just

          4  point out --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is that correct?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: That is my

          7  understanding, yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me point

          9  out why I am asking this agency, and that is why

         10  some of us that deal with this every single day, I

         11  am still trying to understand the mechanism.

         12                 Let me just say this: While maybe

         13  this hearing is based upon recycling commercial and

         14  rules and regulations, in our community we look at,

         15  around here we use the word global, not parochial.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Universal is

         17  fine.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay. There is

         19  laws that govern that says in terms of transfer

         20  stations, whether it is recycling, what it may be,

         21  and for a community I represent, sometimes they get

         22  confused, all they know is every day they have to

         23  face with certain conditions that are

         24  environmentally wrong and we know there has been

         25  violations.
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          2                 The reason why I am asking this

          3  agency is, one of the things that I have learned,

          4  whether it is recycling or transfer stations, there

          5  is a permit that you issue to those transfer

          6  stations, that by the way, may be doing recycling

          7  too, as I understand it.

          8                 All I know is that I get a letter

          9  like my colleagues when these licenses are up for

         10  renewal, and we are asked to determine whether we

         11  should recommend that they continue or at least seek

         12  from us whether we know of any violations or

         13  complaints.

         14                 Now, what I am trying to understand

         15  is, if there are reports within the Department of

         16  Sanitation that may not be recycling, but it does go

         17  hand-in-hand with the whole environmental questions,

         18  then I think communication and networking is very

         19  important. And I don't think we should wait until

         20  that component of the Sanitation Department comes

         21  before us, for us to then ask the question and get

         22  the information.

         23                 What I am saying is, it is like the

         24  health, you have to look at the whole family, and in

         25  this case Sanitation within your components should
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          2  be providing that kind of information so that at

          3  least we have the information that many of us are

          4  saying we are not receiving right now.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You point is

          6  well taken.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I

          8  understand.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 Mr. Leffler.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: As I

         13  understand it, the main purpose of this hearing is

         14  to check whether all commercial recycling that is

         15  supposed to be done is in fact being done.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I understand

         18  that some food and beverage establishments do source

         19  separate, for example --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They are

         21  required to source separate.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: They are

         23  required to source separate.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But whereas
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          2  their corrugated cardboard is picked up by a vehicle

          3  which does just that, the carter is permitted to

          4  take the source separated containers in one bag and

          5  the putrescible waste in another bag. But then

          6  inside the truck we have heard that bags break, and

          7  they all are deposited in the transfer station, and

          8  not all of the, you know, say food and beverage

          9  containers, bottles, cans, foil products are then

         10  disposed of separately, basically recycled; is that

         11  true?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I don't

         13  have any specific information at all that what you

         14  have just said is true, that is that the glass and

         15  metal and plastic are not being recycled.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Have you

         17  heard rumors to that effect?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Well, I

         19  read that in the BAGS report.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: We don't

         22  know of it in our agency.

         23                 It is true that a carter can put blue

         24  bagged or clear bagged metal, glass and plastic in

         25  the same truck as the putrescible waste. There is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  not a requirement that that be a separate truck.

          3  However, the material has to be separate ultimately,

          4  and it is separated so far as we know, as I

          5  testified earlier.

          6                 If you or other members of the

          7  Council know of specific instances where that is not

          8  happening, we would certainly appreciate you

          9  bringing it to our attention. It is not something

         10  our enforcement staff has found.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You don't

         12  think it is worthwhile checking into this?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What Mr. Leffler

         14  is suggesting is --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You ought to

         16  check it.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Are there

         18  instances that you know of that are specific, Mr.

         19  Leffler?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I read this

         21  article yesterday afternoon in preparation for this

         22  Committee meeting. It would seem to me that probably

         23  your staff or yourself have read it as well.

         24                 It would seem to me that rather than

         25  asking me to check into this, I don't deal with
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          2  transfer stations anymore, it would make sense

          3  perhaps for the Sanitation Department to look into

          4  it because it sort of eviscerates the purpose of

          5  recycling. It is one thing to source separate, it is

          6  another thing to in fact recycle. If they get mixed

          7  together in the trucks, you are defeating the

          8  purpose of source separation at the outset.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I will

         10  certainly look into it further, but the point I was

         11  trying to establish was simply that we don't have

         12  evidence of this. There are some anecdotes that are

         13  in that article, we don't have evidence of it and I

         14  was simply pointing out that if you do, or anyone

         15  does who is here today, we would be happy to get

         16  evidence.

         17                 We have enforcement staff but they

         18  deal in specific situations, specific commercial

         19  establishments, specific transfer stations and that

         20  is how enforcement has to occur. It can't occur

         21  based on anecdote.

         22                 But we will look further into it. We

         23  have no evidence of it to date, but we will pursue

         24  it again.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: It seems to
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          2  make sense to speak to them about it, and see where

          3  they got their information, and you know, on that

          4  basis you may find that what you are accounted there

          5  is actually more widespread than we might think.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I don't

          7  know that it is widespread at all.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Commissioner,

          9  one of the things that I mentioned to you was the

         10  fact that many of the transfer stations, Waste

         11  Management and others, they are taking down the

         12  equipment needed to do the post collection

         13  separation of putrescibles, so they lead us to

         14  believe there is some sort of a policy going on but

         15  they are not going to be doing post collection

         16  separation, or trying to get the recyclables out of

         17  putrescibles.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I

         19  understand that point, but we have --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is why we

         21  are very suspicious and that is what is taking

         22  place.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I

         24  understand that, sir, but we have no evidence of the

         25  point Mr. Leffler was bringing out which is that
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          2  source separated recyclables are not being recycled.

          3  We don't have evidence of that in the commercial

          4  sector, irrespective of the article.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Plus the fact

          6  that we are being told, and you are contradicting it

          7  obviously, that the amount of recyclable materials

          8  are being taken out of putrescibles is diminishing.

          9  So, all of these factors are circumstantial, if

         10  true.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: The charts of

         12  the Brooklyn Borough President, for example, that he

         13  presented.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So I guess what

         15  we are saying to you, we want you to look into it.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: At

         17  putrescible transfer stations, again, the program

         18  that any transfer station might establish to further

         19  separate whatever recyclables they might see in the

         20  putrescible stream that comes into the facility, and

         21  it is probably a small percentage of the overall

         22  waste they receive in the first instance anyway,

         23  that is a business decision based on the volume of

         24  material they see there, and the relative

         25  contamination of that material. That is a
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          2  market-based and economically-based decision, it

          3  makes sense to me that we make all of the

          4  information available to the commercial sector and

          5  to transfer stations and to communities as to what

          6  the obligations of everybody are, and then based on

          7  that information, we, as a government, step out of

          8  the way and let the commercial sector manage its

          9  business the way it needs to.

         10                 And I think it is working. I don't

         11  think we have the evidence that is being suggested

         12  here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In response to

         14  that, it was a decision of the Commissioner to

         15  determine as to what materials should be source

         16  separated or post collection separated.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Based on

         19  marketing conditions.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes. But

         21  as we know, Mr. Chairman, market conditions

         22  fluctuate.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand

         24  that. But I think you misspoke yourself in answering

         25  one of my questions, you said it was a decision that
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          2  was to be made by the industry. It was really a

          3  decision to be made by the commissioner.

          4                 So, in other words, if you feel in

          5  your wisdom that there is a violation, and that

          6  there are people who are doing post collection in

          7  violation of what they should be doing, you can then

          8  change your mind and say, look, I don't think you

          9  should any longer do post collection, we now want

         10  you to do source separation, based upon the fact

         11  that they may be abusing the orders of the

         12  commissioner.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Well, we

         14  could expand, if it made sense, if there were

         15  markets for additional materials, we could certainly

         16  expand the source separation designations; is that

         17  your point? That we could add to --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think you have

         19  the power to do that --

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: -- If you feel

         22  there is an abuse. And what we are reading about and

         23  hearing some indications of it, there may be an

         24  abuse of, and we don't know, of the post collection

         25  separation of recyclables.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: There are two

          3  matters here, and I don't think you are hitting the

          4  matter that I am trying to focus on, and that is,

          5  that cans, bottles, foil products, are put into one

          6  bag, the blue bag; is that what these carters put it

          7  in? And they also take away the putrescible waste

          8  from these food and beverage industries.

          9                 Then they bring them to the transfer

         10  stations. They may break open, they may not, in the

         11  truck. What assurance is there that the bottles,

         12  cans and foil that is in the blue bag is in fact

         13  being recycled? That I don't think is left to be a

         14  market decision, and the intention was that that be

         15  recycled.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: That's

         18  true. And where the material is separated, and it

         19  can still be separated in the truck, even though

         20  putrescible waste is there. We have not required

         21  that individual different trucks, as we do in the

         22  City program, and frankly in commercial buildings

         23  there is, apart from the food service

         24  establishments, there isn't the volume of those

         25  materials that is typically in a household.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Let's focus

          3  now on the food service.

          4                 What confidence do you have that in

          5  fact the blue bags with their bottles, cans and foil

          6  products are in fact all being recycled, are

          7  overwhelmingly being recycled.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Our

          9  confidence is based on our observations at

         10  putrescible transfer stations and what we know to be

         11  occurring at other processors of materials that are

         12  not regulated by bus. We have contracts, for

         13  instance, for City's paper and metal, glass and

         14  plastic contracts, are with processors that are not

         15  regulated by the Department. We know the kind of

         16  work they do.

         17                 If you are a private carter that has

         18  metal, glass and plastic being received in your

         19  trucks, you are going to a putrescible transfer

         20  station, the source separated material is going

         21  other than to that putrescible transfer station

         22  ultimately. And that is the issue that the Chairman

         23  has raised and the article raised that gave rise to

         24  this hearing, is the material that used to be at the

         25  putrescible transfer station just being dumped into
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          2  the waste. The evidence we have is that it is not.

          3                 The evidence we have is that paper

          4  processors and scrap metal dealers and VISY paper

          5  and other people who are in the business of handling

          6  and processing recyclables are doing just that.

          7                 Your concern is that, I believe, if I

          8  understand your point correctly, is that material

          9  that might be in a private carters truck commingled,

         10  at least dumped in with the same putrescibles is not

         11  being separated. We don't have evidence of it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I have two

         13  different concerns. One is that those that are

         14  picked up, segregated as metal, cans, bottles and

         15  foil and put in a separate bag are in fact being

         16  recycled, that is one thing.

         17                 The second is that to the extent

         18  there is a mixture together, that the metal cans,

         19  the metal cans, the bottles and the foil are getting

         20  recycled. With the latter you say is a market-based

         21  decision. With the former you say you think they are

         22  taken straight off other than to a transfer station

         23  and disposed of, because they were put in a separate

         24  bag.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: That's
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          2  correct.

          3                 If there are recyclable materials in

          4  some small quantity or a larger quantity that are in

          5  the putrescible waste at a transfer station, what we

          6  see with picking lines in our experience over the

          7  years is that if it is substantial enough in volume

          8  or in value, obviously the value primarily, the

          9  picking lines are more extensive, the picking occurs

         10  more substantially because there is money to be

         11  made.

         12                 I don't think you would ask a

         13  business in your district to pick out material that

         14  doesn't have a value to that business and have that

         15  business person incur an additional cost, needlessly

         16  for material that in the context of that business is

         17  diminimis.

         18                 If it is more substantial there is an

         19  issue. And if it is source separated and that

         20  material is being commingled again, that is an

         21  issue, you are absolutely right.

         22                 But we don't see it, and that is the

         23  point, we haven't seen it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: And you

         25  believe that the blue bags of bottles, cans and foil
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          2  are in fact being recycled.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, that

          4  is what we believe.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay. Just to

          6  move on to another issue, but which I think is

          7  touched on in the BAGS article I read yesterday,

          8  there are many businesses that do the post

          9  collections separation, right, for their recycling?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: There are

         11  some which do.

         12                 Transfer stations you mean?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Transfer

         14  stations, yes.

         15                 Okay, what confidence do you have

         16  that in fact that is being done?

         17                 I mean, in other words, it is one

         18  thing, you know, to have the source separation at

         19  the outset, and then you have confidence that almost

         20  everything is being separated, but those, which

         21  there are some, do it at the transfer stations, what

         22  confidence do we have that that is in fact being

         23  disposed of as recycling, rather than just being

         24  disposed of as trash?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Our
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          2  experience at transfer stations, that if as a

          3  business decision you are taking the time to post

          4  collections, separate those materials, you wouldn't

          5  do it unless they were value to your business in

          6  doing it.

          7                 And so the exercise is not an empty

          8  exercise of these businesses.  If you visit, you

          9  will see that the material gets --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: And

         11  businesses are supposed to do either at the outset

         12  post collection. My understanding is there is not

         13  supposed to be a decision, well, it is up to the

         14  transfer stations to see if there is value there. I

         15  mean, if in fact, you know, with post collection

         16  separation it is supposed to be done, otherwise it

         17  just gets around the law.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: We don't

         19  see that, sir. The fundament of the program is

         20  source separation at the generator. That is the way

         21  our entire program works, as you know well, on the

         22  residential and commercial side.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I thought

         24  there is an option to do post collection separation

         25  and that, you know, in a big City like New York many
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          2  do. So, what I am asking you is how can we be

          3  confident that in those instances the recyclables

          4  are not just mixed into the garbage and just

          5  disposed of as trash.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: It is not

          7  an option, post collection separation. I think there

          8  is a little confusion about that.

          9                 The fundamental primary obligation is

         10  to source separate. The source separated materials

         11  in blue bags are being put in the same trucks as

         12  putrescible waste, they still need to be separated.

         13                 If in the putrescible waste itself

         14  that arrives at the transfer station there are some

         15  recyclable materials, and source separation has

         16  already occurred, there is not that same obligation.

         17  Then that is when it is a business decision. That is

         18  over and above the fundamental requirements of our

         19  program. And when the market conditions are correct

         20  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I thought

         22  that under your regulations businesses have the

         23  option to engage in a post collection separation

         24  program --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: An
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          2  alternative to source separation? No.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: They do not?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: They do

          5  not.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is clearly

          7  delineated in the rules.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I see, okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But I think Mr.

         10  Leffler's point, and I think it is a well made

         11  point, is that when you have source separation, say

         12  for a food and beverage institution, where they put

         13  metal, glass and plastic in the same truck, and when

         14  they come to the transfer stations, it is all dumped

         15  out at the same time, nobody goes through the truck

         16  and says here we put this bag, and this bag there,

         17  it is all dumped out and somebody then has to go

         18  through it and pick out -- and as I understand it,

         19  that is how it works; is that true?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, but

         21  it is not commingled in the way, recyclables are

         22  contained in the same load --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is separate

         24  bags.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Separate
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          2  bags, easily separable.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Not so easily

          4  separable because they break sometimes in the

          5  dumping process.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, but

          7  that is not commingled in the way that the

          8  recyclables within the load of garbage are. That is

          9  the stuff that can't be separated, that is the stuff

         10  that gets contaminated.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are getting

         12  reports and that is why we are asking you to look

         13  into it, that because it involves some difficulties

         14  that they are now just simply dumping all of the

         15  materials into landfills, and they are not source

         16  separating, they are not taking advantage of the

         17  source separating materials because for economic

         18  conditions or whatever it is, and especially when

         19  you learn about the fact that this equipment is

         20  being dismantled, that leaves suspicion, and those

         21  are the things we are concerned with.

         22                 Mr. Leffler, do you have another

         23  question?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes.

         25                 Moving on to other topics --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Having to do

          3  with commercial recycling, right?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I was

          8  hoping it was the Giants.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I am not

         10  thinking globally, just on commercial recycling.

         11  With regard to textiles, what is the Sanitation

         12  Department doing to see to it that the garment

         13  industry and other industries where at least ten

         14  percent of the solid waste consists of textiles are

         15  in fact source separating their textiles?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Before he

         17  leaves, I would like to say that Angel Rodriguez is

         18  here from Brooklyn. He is going next door and he

         19  will be back, okay. And Helen Marshall from Queens

         20  is here. She is staying.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Mr.

         22  Leffler, the garment industry is a particular sector

         23  in our economy that we have worked closely with in

         24  the Waste Match Program. It actually is a very

         25  homogenous waste -- you correctly stated is largely
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          2  textiles. There is not a whole lot of work that we

          3  need to do with that industry, in the sense that

          4  they already have in place mechanisms for dealing

          5  with that material.

          6                 What we have tried to do with our

          7  Waste Match Program, which I have testified before

          8  about, before this Committee, is to be sure that

          9  there are outlets available and that people have

         10  outlets and people who want outlets can match up

         11  with each other. It is one of the sectors in our

         12  Waste Match and Wasteless Program that we have been

         13  working with.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: So that

         15  businesses where ten percent or more of the waste

         16  that is disposed of consists of textiles, they have

         17  to separate the source of the textiles?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: That's

         19  correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: And that is

         21  done, you believe?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, it

         23  is.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay, what

         25  about businesses that disclose of paper? I
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          2  understand that we also believe that high grade

          3  paper is being recycled, but not all types of paper

          4  are being recycled; is that true?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Not to my

          6  knowledge, sir. Again, I don't know the basis of

          7  this information. In fact, as we understand it, and

          8  our knowledge is that paper is being recycled in the

          9  City of New York in huge quantities, that in fact

         10  most of it is being done outside the parameters of

         11  the facilities that we are talking about here today,

         12  and that that is the way it is supposed to work.

         13  Private paper processers, including ones under

         14  contract with the City of New York for residential

         15  paper are receiving that material. VISY Paper is

         16  receiving the material, trucks I mentioned earlier,

         17  I think before you were present, that private

         18  vendors drive directly to the VISY Plant, some

         19  vendors tip their trucks into barges at our 59th

         20  Street transfer station, and that is all occurring,

         21  and the paper certainly to those vendors who find it

         22  valuable, including VISY Paper, is going where it

         23  needs to go. The recycling is occurring and we don't

         24  have evidence to the contrary.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Maybe you
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          2  should speak to our staff and you can get a sense as

          3  to what their sources are.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I would be

          5  pleased to do that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER:  That not all

          7  of the high grade paper is being recycling. They may

          8  tell us there are sources, there must be some

          9  sources.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I wouldn't

         11  question that, I would simply say that we don't have

         12  that same information.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay, not

         14  yet.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Not yet.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You know,

         17  looking at what you have in the blue packet, and

         18  otherwise, the rules as to what has to be recycled

         19  commercially were promulgated around 1993.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, and

         21  somewhat modified in 1994.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay. Have

         23  they been updated since, in terms of adding

         24  additional materials to be recycled, taking any off

         25  the list to be recycled? No.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: No, sir.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay.

          4                 Have there been any suggestion as to

          5  adding additional, or do you feel you have got

          6  everything that can be meaningfully --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Well, we

          8  always have discussion, actually pretty continually

          9  in the Department, about materials. You know, the

         10  materials that we recycle on the residential side, I

         11  just would point out for a frame of reference that

         12  although all our residential paper is recycled, we

         13  pay for the processing of that paper. So, while we

         14  all think that these commodities are, and we operate

         15  a program on a market basis, we really don't do

         16  that. Recycling is important enough to all of us

         17  that we do it even as we pay for the privilege of

         18  doing it.

         19                 So, we have not added material. We

         20  think we have covered the most substantial materials

         21  in terms of their value and in terms of their

         22  quantities in the commercial side.

         23                 We occasionally get suggestions about

         24  other materials to add, other plastics, we are

         25  always hearing about other plastics, we hear some
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          2  about textiles and other arenas beyond those areas

          3  which have ten percent or more. But we haven't seen

          4  a need or a basis for revising those designated

          5  materials lists.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Maybe I could

          7  just say in conclusion that this is not -- we are

          8  doing commercial today, but I would be interested in

          9  knowing the Sanitation Department's follow-up with

         10  respect for tickets that are issued against the

         11  Board of Education, custodians and the like, to

         12  assure recycling in the schools.

         13                 My reports are still that the large

         14  percentage of what can be recycled in the schools is

         15  still not being recycled in the schools, and that

         16  your tickets are not being paid, they are being

         17  contested, ignored and I think it would be

         18  interesting for us to know that. It is sort of a

         19  related problem. It is not commercial but --

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: It is all

         21  related. I would be happy to talk at another time to

         22  the Committee about this, it is a favorite topic of

         23  mine.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We certainly

         25  don't want money taken away from education, for
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          2  whatever purposes.

          3                 Just to follow up on the last

          4  question --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But the

          6  important thing is that it be enforced.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is the

          8  important thing. The valuation of your program that

          9  you had instituted some years ago of going into the

         10  schools and training the children, we are very

         11  interested in it.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: We would

         13  be happy to talk further about it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Just as a

         15  follow-up to Mr. Leffler's last question, before Mr.

         16  Sabini asks some questions: There are new things

         17  really coming which very well may need recycling,

         18  and I see it every time, when I go through the

         19  basement I see all of these things piling up, and I

         20  don't think it is being recycled. I am talking about

         21  electronic computer equipment. Every time windows

         22  comes out with new equipment, new equipment comes

         23  out, new Pentium or something like that, people are

         24  getting new equipment and they are throwing out old

         25  equipment, piles of it. So, maybe one of the things
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          2  you want to think about is adding electronic

          3  computer equipment to things that should be

          4  recycled.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: At this

          6  juncture, Mr. Chairman, if I could just comment, we

          7  are hoping that in that sector reuse is the option.

          8  You work with a group I know that you are fond of,

          9  Materials for the Arts, which has a large component

         10  of receiving computer equipment.

         11                 There are many organizations in the

         12  City of New York that don't have top line computer

         13  equipment and indeed don't have bottom line computer

         14  equipment, have no computer equipment, so --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am talking

         16  about equipment that has outlived its usefulness for

         17  two or three times, because we are but in the

         18  fourth, fifth generation of computers and the first

         19  generation probably is being thrown out.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Well, that

         21  may be. There is a reuse market to some degree,

         22  there are metal components which we capture, and it

         23  may be that we should be looking more carefully at

         24  the electronics.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Sabini.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you. I

          3  can't help but note the nexus between the Materials

          4  for the Art and October being compost month.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You lost me on

          6  that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I can see a

          8  new market at the Brooklyn Museum for compost. But

          9  anyway, the number of tickets in the MMR for Fiscal

         10  '99, summonses that were issued by the recycling

         11  police were 87,459, and I think there was testimony

         12  that there was 10,585 for commercial. So, does that

         13  mean that the other 77,000 are household?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LAWITTS: No,

         15  because the MMR figure of 87,000 is only for

         16  summonses issued by the recycling police, there were

         17  a total of approximately 97,000 recycling summonses

         18  issued by all Department personnel who are

         19  authorized to issue summonses, and of that total

         20  97,000, approximately 10,000 related to commercial

         21  recycling and approximately 86,000 or 87,000 related

         22  to residential recycling.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I want to

         24  raise an issue that hasn't been raised, but maybe

         25  should. And it is sort of a crossover between what
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          2  you do and what DEP does. We have heard testimony

          3  today about food and beverage establishments and one

          4  thing that has been in the news lately and my office

          5  has also been involved in it and Council Member

          6  Harrison's office has been involved in it, is the

          7  dumping of grease into the waste system. And that in

          8  turn causing flooding. Grand Street was under water

          9  last week, after the hurricane. It was under water a

         10  couple of weeks ago, and the diagnosis has been that

         11  the storm sewers are clogged with commercially

         12  dumped grease, and while our work isn't complete a

         13  random inspection by DEP of some restaurants in my

         14  district and some in Council Member Harrison's

         15  district showed that virtually none of the

         16  establishments had proper grease traps. In one case

         17  of commercial strip being inspected, none did. Zero.

         18                 Is there anything, or any discussion

         19  about having restaurant food establishments

         20  recycling their grease in some way and disposing of

         21  it in a different manner that would aid the

         22  environment and, frankly, prevent some flooding?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: It is not

         24  an issue I have under discussion. Although it is

         25  certainly an interesting one. Maybe we should be
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          2  talking more about it with you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Well, I am

          4  talking to DEP about this because they are admitting

          5  that there is a big problem, but they don't have the

          6  personnel to do the inspections, and frankly, the

          7  abuse of the law, the law being having a proper

          8  grease trap in their wastewater system, is almost

          9  total, and the situation on Grand Street is directly

         10  attributable to that and millions of dollars were

         11  lost on Grand Street because of the flooding the

         12  last month, and the same situation happens on Main

         13  Street in Flushing. And frankly, if we didn't have

         14  the elevated train, the same situation would

         15  probably happen on Roosevelt Avenue, I am told,

         16  because of the total flouting of the law. And there

         17  might be, and I would be interested to see if other

         18  cities have this, a way that you can recycle the

         19  grease and keep it out of our sewer system.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What do you use

         21  it for? What do you use the grease for? Recycled for

         22  what? Use it for what?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Dispose of it

         24  properly. When I say recycle it, I mean dispose of

         25  it properly.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There is a big

          3  difference between disposal and recycling. But if it

          4  can be used for something else that is recycling.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. I don't

          6  know.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I don't know

          8  either.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I would be

         10  interested to hear, and if we go further with this

         11  with DEP I am going to be asking you to undertake

         12  some effort to look at this.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: This is an

         14  issue Assistant Commissioner Santangelo let's me

         15  know that we are in discussion with the Trade Waste

         16  Commission about this issue and have done some work

         17  on it and we will be glad to share some of that with

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: On the grease?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: On grease,

         21  on the ways that people need to properly dispose of

         22  it. It gets sealed containers, it gets used I am

         23  told, reused for soap and other products.

         24                 This is an issue worth nothing, and

         25  also, we have come to hear of it by community boards
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          2  even outside of your borough, in Brooklyn, in our

          3  Borough consultations on next year's budget, this

          4  issue has surfaced there too. So, we will certainly

          5  give it some consideration and be back in touch with

          6  you about it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yes, the

          8  restaurants are just tossing it and it gets caught

          9  up into the system, and as I said, I wasn't

         10  surprised when Commissioner Miele said that the

         11  flooding in Grand Street was due to a grease problem

         12  rather than a pipe problem.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You may have

         14  come up with another thing to be recycled.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I think

         16  there already area requirements. I don't know much

         17  about this, but I am quite sure there are already

         18  requirements as to grease traps and proper disposal,

         19  but they clearly aren't being followed.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: No one follows

         21  them.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: So we need

         23  to take a look at it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And that is

         25  not followed. And that is not a hyperbolic
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          2  statement. In cases that they have sent teams out to

          3  check say ten restaurants, they were 0 for 10.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Think of all of

          5  the soap we can make.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay, thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member

          9  Marshall.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes. How do

         11  we get rid now of the residue of oil, crude oil?

         12  Don't we have a way of getting rid of that? Or is

         13  that recycled and used for something?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: It can be

         15  recycled. We allow for it at our special waste

         16  drop-off centers, which we --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I am talking

         18  about commercial use.

         19                 I mean I have a man who collects this

         20  stuff, what do we do with it?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Do you

         22  mean oil from automotive?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Under

         25  state law, automotive centers, anybody who changes
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          2  oil, does that sort of stuff, is required to take

          3  back used oil and to take the oil that they have

          4  that is used, and there is a manifest system that

          5  they are obligated to follow for having that oil

          6  properly transported and ensure that it is reused.

          7  It gets refiltered and becomes available again in

          8  the oil --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: What about

         10  the residue that is left after it is filtered?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I don't

         12  know how commercial establishments deal with that. I

         13  would be glad to investigate that for you --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: It is an

         15  industry. We are talking an industry. It would be

         16  interesting to see, you know, if they can recycle it

         17  and actually filter it. But after that there is a

         18  residue, and I would like to know about that.

         19                 It seems to me that we could be doing

         20  something about a major carting industry like waste

         21  management. I mean, they are estimated to do, what

         22  is it, 40 percent? Or a large percent of our

         23  recycling and waste management incorporated. They

         24  have actually taken over many, many, many businesses

         25  and with a firm that large we ought to be able to
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          2  insist that they do something about proper

          3  recycling, that they ought to be able to have trucks

          4  that can take two different types of it. We don't

          5  have that commingling back at their plant where they

          6  recycle or they are supposed to recycle or separate.

          7  And it would seem to me that it would upgrade source

          8  recycling, sour separation. What are we doing about

          9  a large firm like that that has almost the monopoly

         10  on the carting industry? You are hitting the little

         11  guys, I mean what about somebody like that when it

         12  gets to such a large dimension? It seems like we

         13  could work something out with them.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Waste

         15  management is licensed by the Trade Waste Commission

         16  as any other carter and their transfer stations are

         17  licensed and there is nothing different about them

         18  in the sense that they are obligated to follow the

         19  same rules and regulations than any other -- COUNCIL

         20  MEMBER MARSHALL: Are they?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         22                 Our experience, our information is

         23  that they are. Your report contains some anecdotes.

         24  Mr. Leffler suggested we should talk further with

         25  your staff, and perhaps you should do that, to know
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          2  if you have some specific facts and information to

          3  share with us which we will most certainly follow

          4  up.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: According to

          6  this, they have moved, this is a trade journal, they

          7  have actually removed separation equipment from

          8  three of their large transfer stations last year.

          9  You know, and so, therefore, how are they complying?

         10                 I mean, does DOS have the capability

         11  of monitoring all of this?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes, we do

         13  and we know, as I mentioned to the Chairman a bit

         14  earlier, we know that at one transfer station, I

         15  don't know about the three that you have referred

         16  to, I know for a fact about one where post

         17  collection separation, some equipment was removed

         18  from that site, it is a putrescible transfer station

         19  and in contemplation of receiving additional

         20  putrescible waste, that equipment was removed from

         21  that site. Recyclables that were going to that site

         22  have been rerouted to other transfer facilities and

         23  they are continuing to separate those properly. So,

         24  we don't know of the issue that you speak of.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I might add that
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          2  shortly the witness is going to be John McCrory, who

          3  is the author of the article, if you want to stay

          4  and listen to him, and maybe he will be able to tell

          5  you the other sites.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: I am sure

          7  that will be enlightening.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. Is there

          9  anything else, Councilwoman?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, I

         11  guess I am sort of dragging it on, but they had to

         12  obtain permit modifications in order to do this.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: From the

         14  state.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes, from

         16  the state.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: And you know

         19  the state can -- I was with the state for nine

         20  years, and the state does not have as good a record

         21  on this kind o management and handling as the City

         22  does, and evidently they didn't take this into

         23  consideration. In fact they didn't take recycling

         24  into consideration in doing it.

         25                 I will save my questions for the
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          2  gentleman who is the author of the article. I think

          3  we ought to have tighter control on it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, there are

          5  no other questions. Thank you very much.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I was hoping

          8  somebody would remain to listen to some of the

          9  testimony.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: My anxiety

         11  is really -- I mean we are talking about closing

         12  Freshkills, commercial waste is a large amount of

         13  our waste stream, and if we are not enforcing it,

         14  those folks in Staten Island who are optimistic

         15  about moving Freshkills, we are going to disappoint

         16  them.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Eileen Chin.

         18                 Any comment to Council Member

         19  Marshall's response?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HIRST: No, I

         21  understand Councilwoman Marshall's point.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you.

         24                 Ms. Chin, welcome. I think this is

         25  your first testimony before this Committee.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: Good

          3  morning, Chairman Michels.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you want to

          5  state your name for the record.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN:  Eileen

          7  Chin, Assistant Commissioner at New York City Trade

          8  Waste Commission.  I don't have a prepared

          9  statement.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We understand

         11  you didn't have a prepared statement, you are here

         12  to answer questions.

         13                 Now, you have heard testimony, is

         14  there any testimony that you have heard from

         15  Commissioner Hirst that you would care to comment on

         16  or add to or illuminate?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: Were you

         18  sitting there saying I would have answered this way

         19  or I would have answered that way?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: The

         21  Trade Waste Commission, as you stated, we license

         22  the private carters, we do background checks, and we

         23  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Get rid of

         25  corruption, primarily.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: And get

          3  rid of corruption in the carting industry. And with

          4  respect to the recycling component of our rules and

          5  regulations, that was adopted from the Department of

          6  Consumer Affairs.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But you still

          8  enforce those?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: Yes, we

         10  enforce that. The carters, the generators have to

         11  source separate, and the carters have to take it up

         12  as they are put out, and in our rules and

         13  regulations we require the carters to follow the

         14  recycling law.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you have

         16  some concurrent jurisdiction?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: With the

         19  Department of Sanitation, their rules and

         20  regulations. Is that also having to do with respect

         21  to the transfer stations?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: No,

         23  transfer stations we just do the background checks.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You never go in

         25  there to see what they are doing and whether they
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          2  are following the rules and regulations with respect

          3  to the actions of the transfer stations?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: We go to

          5  the transfer stations to check on the operators and

          6  the individuals. If there are violations by the

          7  Department of Sanitation -- we are kind of in a

          8  bind, though, because we have two Department of

          9  Sanitation officers assigned to our commission.

         10  Their mission, their task is to do the background

         11  check on the transfer station operator to make sure

         12  there are no organized crime members associated with

         13  the transfer station.

         14                 But, however, if they see some

         15  violations on the transfer station they will report

         16  it to the TIU unit of Sanitation.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you have any

         18  knowledge as to the dismantling of the equipment for

         19  purposes of making separations, post collection

         20  separation at any of the transfer stations?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: We have

         22  information that waste management was dismantling

         23  the picking lines from the Varrick Street transfer

         24  station, and they represented that because of the

         25  number of their customers have source separated,
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          2  their cardboards and their other items, that they

          3  send out designated trucks to pick up the recyclable

          4  materials and take those materials to MRF stations.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That never

          6  required separation, the paper and cardboard, as far

          7  as I know, never required post collection

          8  separation.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: Right. I

         10  mean, what they had done, what they represented was

         11  that they kind of like decreased their handpicking

         12  at the Varrick Street Station because the generators

         13  had source separated the recyclable materials that

         14  they can send non-putrescible trucks to pick up the

         15  recyclable materials and take it to the MRF

         16  stations, and that is why --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You are saying

         18  that materials which had been previously post

         19  collection separated would no longer be post

         20  collection separated and they would be now source

         21  separated?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: No,

         23  these are materials that are source separated by the

         24  generators.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: By law.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So the situation

          4  hasn't changed.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: But

          6  instead of taking it to the Varrick Street, they

          7  take it to MRFs.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Oh, I see what

          9  you are saying. Okay.

         10                 So, you have no knowledge of any of

         11  that. So, the transfer stations, as far as you are

         12  concerned, as long as you examine the fact that they

         13  are not organized crime operators, and you don't

         14  check to see what they are doing, whether they are

         15  acting properly, or whether they are acting pursuant

         16  to the rules and regulations of the Department of

         17  Sanitation?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: Right.

         19  If the operators are honest --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Nothing as to

         21  the operation?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: No,

         23  nothing with the operations. We don't check for the

         24  number of trucks going in, the noise level, you

         25  know, the environmental issues, we don't check for
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          2  that. We don't have the authority.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 We have a question from Mr. Robles.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me try to

          7  understand also because after Sanitation now it is

          8  the Commission.

          9                 Your jurisdiction, you have

         10  jurisdiction enforcement on those who actually pick

         11  up and deliver, correct?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: We have

         13  enforcement over the carters.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Right. But

         15  does your jurisdiction in enforcement also carry

         16  enforcing the State Environmental Protection laws?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: The

         18  State DEC?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Yes.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Then help me

         22  out. I am a layman, and I got a little crash course.

         23                 The truck now picks up, transports,

         24  are there regulations that says, for example, like

         25  they must be covered?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: You mean

          3  for the collars (sic) --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: To move from

          5  point A to point B.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: Okay,

          7  that we do not -- for Local Law 42 and the rules, we

          8  don't have anything covering that. That would be

          9  covered by the Department of Sanitation and

         10  Transportation, the moving of the vehicle and the

         11  covering of the vehicle.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So, basically,

         13  again I am sorry, your role is what?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: The

         15  Commission licenses the private carters, we make

         16  sure that, because this industry, the purpose of

         17  Local Law 42 was to get organized crime out of the

         18  industry, to make sure that organized crime stays

         19  out of the industry, we set the maximum rate that

         20  the carters can charge the customers, deal with

         21  customer complaints, make sure that the service is

         22  provided to the customer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay. When you

         24  say customer complaint, what are some of the

         25  complaints you receive at your commission that you
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          2  then follow through?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHIN: I have

          4  overcharged complaints, no service, excessive noise.

          5  We don't have the authority but we write to the

          6  carter and say we have this complaint, remedy it,

          7  and advise us how it has been done.

          8                 Those are the general type of

          9  complaints from the customers.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 Mr. McCrory, please. To be followed

         14  by Bradley Cohen.

         15                 Welcome, Mr. McCrory, we are

         16  appreciative. You do understand it was your article

         17  that has done much to provoke this hearing.

         18                 MR. McCRORY: Well, that is very

         19  gratifying.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You should know

         21  that we are appreciative of the fact that there is,

         22  I guess we could call it a newsletter or --

         23                 MR. McCRORY: Yes, it is a newsletter.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Fortnightly

         25  newsletter, it sounds almost English.
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          2                 MR. McCRORY: Well, fortnightly I used

          3  because nobody really knows what it means and that

          4  way I can sort of put it out every now and then.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, we are

          6  appreciative that you are very much involved and

          7  interested in these issues. You have heard our

          8  previous questioning, do you have a statement or

          9  anything you want to say?

         10                 MR. McCRORY: Yes, I did bring a

         11  prepared statement that is being passed out.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Just identify

         13  yourself and proceed.

         14                 MR. McCRORY: Okay.

         15                 My name is John McCrory, and I am now

         16  the Executive Director and publisher of Big Apple

         17  Garbage Sentinel, a non-profit organization that

         18  researches and reports on New York City's solid

         19  waste and recycling issues for the public interest.

         20  And I want to thank you for holding today's hearing

         21  to examine the status of the commercial recycling,

         22  which is often a very overlooked issue, and in fact

         23  I haven't been paying much attention to it myself.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Neither had we.

         25                 MR. McCRORY: Until I saw this 4.1
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          2  percent figure in the Department of Sanitation's

          3  report.

          4                 Now, as you know, I published that

          5  about two months ago, and the response I had gotten

          6  since then from many people by E.mail and telephone

          7  has been really surprising. I have gotten more

          8  response from that piece than anything else I have

          9  written, and much of it has been simply to confirm a

         10  lot of what I wrote, although I have been corrected

         11  on a few things, by some helpful people as well, and

         12  I am going to be doing another installment, probably

         13  some time within the next month that will make the

         14  corrections and augment the material that was in the

         15  first part of the report.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Can you tell us

         17  of any corrections without revealing your next

         18  installment?

         19                 We have heard the Department of

         20  Sanitation --

         21                 MR. McCRORY: Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And they sort

         23  of, I won't say contradicted, but they are at odds

         24  with some of the things you have said, especially

         25  with respect to the four percent. Perhaps you would
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          2  like to start that off.

          3                 MR. McCRORY: Yes. Actually I have

          4  some notes I wrote that I have right here and I will

          5  start in with those.

          6                 The first thing was that I was very

          7  glad they brought the videotape along, that cheered

          8  us up in the room, because it confirms what they

          9  disputed in their oral testimony, that when we talk

         10  about garbage and recyclables in New York, we are

         11  talking about the 26,000 tons a day of putrescible

         12  trash, not the construction demolition debris. That

         13  is what the videotape said, there is 26,000 tons and

         14  that is what we were talking about. So, I thought

         15  that was interesting that even in their own

         16  literature they used that figure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But that

         18  includes residential as well?

         19                 MR. McCRORY: That's right. About half

         20  of that is residential, and half of that is

         21  commercial putrescibles.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The residential

         23  is what goes to Freshkills and most of the

         24  non-residential does not go to Freshkills.

         25                 MR. McCRORY: Precisely.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we do not

          3  allow, under Local Law 19, to include certain items

          4  as recyclables, such as C and D and things like

          5  that.

          6                 MR. McCRORY: Right. It wasn't

          7  supposed to cover those things. And actually one of

          8  the oversights that I did make that people have

          9  corrected me on is the point that Deputy

         10  Commissioner Hirst made about the fact that a lot of

         11  paper that gets recycled is not included in those

         12  figures, because it is sent to paper shops which

         13  apparently the Department doesn't regulate, and I

         14  don't see any reason just because they don't

         15  regulate it why it shouldn't be included in the

         16  recycling figures. I mean, pile it on. If there is

         17  more recycling to be proud of then we should be

         18  counting every little scrap we can.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Because their

         20  point is there is no way of counting it.

         21                 MR. McCRORY: Well, then if that is

         22  the case I would like to know how they have so much

         23  evidence that it is actually being recycled, if they

         24  are not counting it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Good answer.
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          2                 The question in my mind was, at one

          3  time it was counted, it was to show the reduction to

          4  four percent, but then they said it goes up and

          5  down.

          6                 MR. McCRORY: Precisely. That was

          7  another question I had, was that if it wasn't being

          8  counted in the third quarter, in the fourth quarter,

          9  then it probably wasn't being counted in the third

         10  quarter, the second quarter, '98 and so on. And I

         11  brought along a handy little chart that summarizes a

         12  lot of the information, and this is not the -- if

         13  you will look at page one, which has the four tables

         14  on the left side and the bar graph on the right, the

         15  column graph, this is taken from the private

         16  transfer station report that they produced each

         17  quarter --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They meaning

         19  who?

         20                 MR. McCRORY: The Department of

         21  Sanitation produces this apparently for internal

         22  use, but the Brooklyn Borough President's office

         23  successfully got a copy of it from a FOIL request

         24  earlier this year, and they were kind enough to

         25  distribute a copy to me, so I --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The FOILs

          3  actually work?

          4                 MR. McCRORY: It took about five

          5  months, but it did work.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Terrific.

          7                 MR. McCRORY: So I basically just

          8  copied the numbers that you see in the left-hand

          9  boxes for the commercial putrescible stations, which

         10  are on the last page of their document. And if you

         11  look at the top box, it tells you how many tons for

         12  each borough that are processed in each borough get

         13  recycled on average per day by quarter, the first,

         14  second, third quarter of 1998.

         15                 And the reason only Bronx, Brooklyn

         16  and Queens are listed as boroughs is because those

         17  are the only boroughs where there are Putrescible --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are talking

         19  about commercial putrescibles.

         20                 MR. McCRORY: Commercial putrescibles.

         21  So we are only looking at the 13,000 tons a day that

         22  is commercial putrescible and we are only looking at

         23  that amount that actually gets processed in the

         24  City. Some of it is in fact hauled from New Jersey.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The question is,
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          2  why isn't Manhattan listed? I know you have an

          3  answer for that.

          4                 MR. McCRORY: Right. I am not looking

          5  at what is generated, I am looking at where it is

          6  processed so we can get a whole handle on what is

          7  actually getting recycled.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Since Manhattan

          9  doesn't have a transfer station.

         10                 MR. McCRORY: Right.

         11                 Then if you look at the second table

         12  down, it shows how much garbage is left over, and if

         13  you compare the numbers in the first two tables in

         14  the upper left, you will see there is a great

         15  difference so that there really isn't a great deal

         16  amount even from quarter to quarter that is actually

         17  getting recycled. And then I put in the bottom, I

         18  summarized those in the third table and in the

         19  bottom I compute the recycling rate.

         20                 Now, the interesting thing about the

         21  way the recycling rate is computed, is when I looked

         22  at these numbers, which by the way are not broken

         23  down in this manner in the Department's own report,

         24  I just ran the numbers myself, if you look in the

         25  Bronx, during the first quarter it was 3.3 percent
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          2  recycling rate, and then it went up in the second

          3  quarter, 11.47 and then to 9.29 and then 8.86 and it

          4  stayed fairly steady. And in fact, over the last two

          5  years, most of the recycling rates have generally

          6  fluctuated between about ten and 16 percent. For if

          7  you drop down two now and look at Queens, you will

          8  see that its recycling rate started out around nine

          9  and it declined slightly over the third and fourth

         10  quarter. But the real shocker is what happened in

         11  Brooklyn which typically has very high recycling

         12  rates, and when I looked back at data that is in

         13  older documents, I found that to be the case.  And

         14  Brooklyn of course handles about 50 percent of all

         15  of the commercial trash that is processed in the

         16  City.

         17                 Now, that is where you see the change

         18  in the fourth quarter, and how it suddenly went from

         19  11.16 percent diversion rate, when it had been

         20  holding fairly steady throughout the year to 0.94

         21  percent, so less than one percent of everything that

         22  was sent to transfer stations in Brooklyn was

         23  getting recycled. That seems a little odd. And I

         24  also don't understand how that can be explained by

         25  market forces, as the Commissioner would like to
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          2  say, because apparently the market was doing just

          3  fine in the Bronx at that time.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What do you

          5  attribute that to?

          6                 MR. McCRORY: Well, if you look on the

          7  other side of this piece of paper you will see what

          8  the first side summarizes for Brooklyn. What I have

          9  done is I have taken the six putrescible transfer

         10  stations that are operating in Brooklyn during the

         11  fourth quarter of the year, which that report

         12  contains this information about telling how many

         13  tons was recycled for each place, how much was

         14  garbage residue and it sums those under total tons

         15  of waste and recyclables. And in this table on the

         16  fourth line down I have added the three waste

         17  management facilities together, just so you can have

         18  an easy handle to see how much of what is in

         19  Brooklyn of that one percent that gets recycled is

         20  handled by waste management. And again, this is just

         21  looking at the fourth quarter, but it is also

         22  helpful to -- although none of the recycling rates

         23  are particularly high during this quarter in

         24  Brooklyn, they especially are not very high at waste

         25  managements 45 Scott Avenue and 215 Varrick Street

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  facilities, which are indeed the facilities that

          3  around that time were converted for use for the

          4  Brooklyn interim contracts and where they have

          5  removed the recycling equipment that was mentioned

          6  earlier in the hearing.

          7                 Now, unfortunately I don't have the

          8  same data for the transfer stations for the third

          9  quarter or the second quarter, the first quarter of

         10  1998 or previous years, but I am of the

         11  understanding that since the Department produces

         12  these reports quarterly, that they have this

         13  information going back two years, so it would be

         14  very helpful to all of us if they could provide

         15  either the Committee or the public with the -- it is

         16  called the private transfer station report and I

         17  guess they do it by quarterly and it consists of

         18  about seven to eight pages of tables.

         19                 I can send you at some point a sample

         20  copy so you know what it looks like if you are

         21  interested in trying to obtain that from them.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Which were the

         23  three transfer stations that would dismantle their

         24  recycling --

         25                 MR. McCRORY: Well, a recycler in the
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          2  Bronx told me that there is a facility, I think it

          3  is on East 132nd, or 135th, I think it is 135th. I

          4  have it in -- I don't have it with me at the moment

          5  in my notes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Could you get us

          7  that information?

          8                 MR. McCRORY: I can get it for you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It became a

         10  source of controversy from the hearing.

         11                 MR. McCRORY: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They only knew

         13  of one but you say there are another two.

         14                 MR. McCRORY: Yes, my it is my

         15  understanding that the main ones that matter are in

         16  Brooklyn and those are where -- I mean, that is the

         17  only borough that we really saw this sudden decline

         18  to less than one percent.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you attribute

         20  any of that sudden decline to the fact that they

         21  don't have recycling equipment in the --

         22                 MR. McCRORY: Well, that would seem to

         23  be the obvious explanation. And while the Department

         24  says they have no evidence of this not happening

         25  properly, I would be more than willing to sit down
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          2  with them some time and see the evidence they have

          3  that it is happening properly.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, you have

          5  an assistant commissioner over there, and I am sure

          6  she would love to sit down with you.

          7                 MR. McCRORY: Yes, that would be fine.

          8  I would be very interested to be able to go over

          9  that and correct the figures, the information that I

         10  don't have correctly.

         11                 The table at the bottom simply shows

         12  the comparison of how much gets recycled in the

         13  left-hand column of each facilities set, and how

         14  much is sent off to landfills and incinerators as

         15  garbage from each facility and as you can see it is

         16  barely noticeable. And I think it is very --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I don't notice

         18  the black, which would indicate the recycling

         19  tonnage.

         20                 MR. McCRORY: Yes, there is no --

         21  there is really nothing there.

         22                 In fact, if you look at the number in

         23  the left for Waste Management; is that what you are

         24  asking about?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.
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          2                 MR. McCRORY: Eighteen tons out of

          3  almost 3,400, they somehow found that much

          4  recyclables in their three Brooklyn facilities.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And so your

          6  conclusion is?

          7                 MR. McCRORY: Well, it would prompt

          8  me, if I were an inspector, it would certainly

          9  prompt me to go and take a look at what is

         10  happening, and I think that the other question is

         11  that the private carters, who are the smaller

         12  operators, don't really have a choice anymore of

         13  where to go. Where maybe it is possible that waste

         14  management can haul these items to a MRF somewhere

         15  far outside the City where they can do post

         16  collection separation as the representative of the

         17  Trade Waste Commission said, but the Trade Waste

         18  Commission apparently is accepting this sort of

         19  because Waste Management says they do it.

         20                 The smaller carters don't have any

         21  place to go because there is nobody who can do this

         22  anymore. The reason I was prompted to do this report

         23  was so many people who were recyclers in the City

         24  and recycling advocates were complaining that

         25  basically in one fell-swoop the largest part of the
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          2  City's infrastructure for doing post collection

          3  separation was dismantled. At a time when Freshkills

          4  is set to close, to do this in order to implement an

          5  interim contract, at a time when you should be doing

          6  everything you can to expand recycling seems hard to

          7  justify.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What is your

          9  understanding of what happens to the metal, glass

         10  and plastic and foil that is source separated by the

         11  food and beverage industry that is picked up? Does

         12  it go to the landfill? What do your contacts in the

         13  industry tell you?

         14                 MR. McCRORY: Well, I know that at

         15  least in the Upstate portion of New York this is now

         16  an issue, because some of the municipalities have

         17  been discovering that the contractors they have

         18  contracted with are landfilling their recyclables

         19  and the Attorney General is apparently investigating

         20  this.

         21                 I have heard enough stories of this

         22  happening in New York that when I look at the data

         23  and see that the recyclable materials aren't showing

         24  up in the data, it would certainly seem to prompt a

         25  more serious investigation.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Whatever

          3  information you have we would love to have. And you

          4  say the Attorney General is investigating it?

          5                 MR. McCRORY: Yes, that is upstate. As

          6  far as I know, none of the City's waste is really

          7  going to landfills upstate, so it would be an issue

          8  in other jurisdictions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Whatever

         10  information you can give me would be very valuable.

         11                 Is there anything further you want to

         12  tell us?

         13                 MR. McCRORY: I probably did forget

         14  some things.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You can always

         16  inform us by mail or call and speak to staff.

         17                 MR. McCRORY: Well, you will be

         18  getting my further report dispatches through E.

         19  Mail.

         20                 The other thing that I noted is that

         21  Deputy Commissioner Hirst made the point that when

         22  market forces convince the waste transfer stations

         23  not to bother with the recycling, the Sanitation

         24  says that's a business decision and therefore that

         25  is a fine time for them not to.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In fairness to

          3  her, she said only those things which are not

          4  required to be recycled.

          5                 MR. McCRORY: Right. Well, which they

          6  still haven't --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If there is a

          8  requirement for them to be recycled, they have to be

          9  recycled whatever the business conditions are.

         10                 MR. McCRORY: Yes. Well, if the

         11  conditions are down for -- if the price, for

         12  example, of cans is really low in a particular

         13  month, then maybe the Department should consider not

         14  ticketing people for not recycling those during that

         15  month. If they are not also going to ticket the, you

         16  know, fine the private carters.

         17                 I also object to this idea that it is

         18  all the responsibility of individuals. Because there

         19  are many people who talk to me who are frustrated,

         20  that they say, you know, I do my best to recycle, I

         21  separate things at home, I separate them at work.

         22  And at work I see what happens when I go outside the

         23  building and the carter comes and picks up the

         24  garbage and throws it all in the same truck because

         25  nobody does two runs for any route anymore in New
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          2  York, unless it is a specialized paper route.

          3                 And the people who work in this City

          4  unfortunately don't have a lot of faith that what

          5  they are separating is actually getting recycled.

          6  And somehow I think a response that says well we

          7  just don't have evidence of that isn't going to

          8  really make people feel good and have confidence --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is why we

         10  are having this hearing because we are sensitive to

         11  that issue also, and I think also one of the things

         12  we should examine is whether or not marketing

         13  conditions should be the only reason for doing

         14  certain things.

         15                 MR. McCRORY: And in fact, marketing

         16  conditions for recyclables are pretty good these

         17  days, and they have gotten better over the course of

         18  this last year, but recycling is dropping in the

         19  City, and that doesn't seem to make sense.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We agree.

         21                 Are there any other questions? Does

         22  anybody have any questions?

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 MR. McCRORY: Thank you very much. I

         25  appreciate it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If you have some

          3  conversation with the Administration, please fill us

          4  in on what happens, as we ask them to do the same

          5  with us.

          6                 Bradley Cohen. To be followed by

          7  Nancy Walby.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Welcome,

          9  Bradley.

         10                 MR. COHEN: How are you?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: State your name

         12  for the record and proceed.

         13                 I must tell you, we have to be out of

         14  this room by 1:00, but I don't think you are going

         15  to take a half an hour?

         16                 MR. COHEN: I don't think I am going

         17  to take that long. I have a brief statement and

         18  pretty much you have copies of it and I will

         19  probably add and revise from that as we go.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 MR. COHEN: I actually want to thank

         23  the Committee members for holding this hearing, and

         24  I want to thank John McCrory for the work that he

         25  has done in this field, which has been -- whether it
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          2  is 100 percent accurate or not, I think it really

          3  shows the direction in which things have been

          4  happening, and even John is willing to admit that he

          5  has minor revisions that he has to make to some of

          6  his figures, he is very flexible in doing that, but

          7  I think it really shows the direction which this is

          8  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I hate to

         10  interrupt you in the beginning, but I wanted to, and

         11  I should have asked John also: If in fact what he is

         12  saying is happening, what is the motivation for it?

         13                 MR. COHEN: One can surmise a lot.

         14  John, if you want to reply to that first, and then I

         15  will respond to it second.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: John, why don't

         17  you get up here and sit with Bradley. If you want to

         18  sit with Bradley, you are welcome to.

         19                 (Mr. McCrory speaks from the audience

         20  off the record.)

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, you are

         22  just a fact-finder.

         23                 Bradley.

         24                 MR. COHEN: Well, the motivation for

         25  doing so I think is pretty much related to what is
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          2  happening with the closure of Freshkills as well, as

          3  the market fluctuations that are happening

          4  throughout the country.

          5                 I think the integration that is

          6  happening between the residential waste that is

          7  going to be diverted from Freshkills now to, on the

          8  interim basis in particular, transfer stations

          9  throughout the City of New York and outside of the

         10  City, I think that it is somewhat obvious that many

         11  of the companies who deal with this are making space

         12  in a sense for a windfall of trash that they expect

         13  to get. It's simply put. And neither the Department,

         14  the DEC or the Trade Waste Commission, whether they

         15  are responsible for this or not, you know, the TWC

         16  pretty much exonerated themselves from any

         17  enforcement whatsoever of the operations aspects of

         18  things, and unfortunately the DEC is not even here

         19  today, which I am upset about as well.

         20                 But I think the fact of the matter is

         21  that because they are not having their feet to the

         22  fire, as far as enforcement of these regulations, I

         23  think they can pretty much flaunt the law as they --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But why would

         25  they want to flaunt the law? Is it economically in
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          2  their benefit to flaunt the law? As has been

          3  suggested, that if they do recycling, the benefits

          4  that they get from recycling can reduce the fees for

          5  private carters.

          6                 MR. COHEN: I think it streamlines

          7  their process a little bit in allowing some economic

          8  benefit?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is all

         10  economically driven, isn't it?

         11                 MR. COHEN: Yes, I believe so. I think

         12  that -- well, let me go into my testimony and then

         13  we will go from there.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, go on.

         15                 MR. COHEN: And then I will answer

         16  some questions as well.

         17                 I am Bradley Cohen, I serve as

         18  Co-chair of the Citywide Recycling Advisory Board.

         19  We have been working for over ten years on expanding

         20  the Citywide efforts to promote waste prevention and

         21  recycling. As the testimony of others will document

         22  today in the area of commercial recycling activity,

         23  recent history brings much bad news.

         24                 This is a stark contrast to the

         25  earliest days of the City's commercial recycling law
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          2  when businesses were clamouring to recycle more and

          3  more material as their means of reducing an

          4  exorbitantly high waste disposal cost.

          5                 Aggressive City oversight and

          6  increased competition within the waste hauling

          7  industry has unfortunately brought down these

          8  disposal costs. Unfortunately, however, the same

          9  companies that introduced competition to the carting

         10  industry in the City have decreased local recycling

         11  capacity by dismantling their processing equipment

         12  that predated their arrival in New York.

         13                 Also, I want to add that many of this

         14  machinery that was installed under different owners

         15  or auspices back when did use public funds as far as

         16  maybe some IDC, IDA grants, et cetera, and that did

         17  finance the installation of some of these funds. So,

         18  it was public money in partially, public money in

         19  removing them that was sacrificed as well.

         20                 Anyway, another important factor is

         21  the Sanitation Department's failure to adequately

         22  enforce Local Law 87, which requires all businesses

         23  to recycle. This failure is somewhat understandable.

         24  The Sanitation Department has a limited number of

         25  enforcement agents, and they are primarily focused
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          2  on the residential sector.

          3                 And when they are focusing on

          4  businesses, that is usually street-cleaning efforts

          5  and such, yard -- illegal dumping in yards, et

          6  cetera.

          7                 This might change, however, if the

          8  Mayor's Management Report reported on a commercial

          9  recycling law compliance in the same way that it

         10  reports with cleanliness ratings for yards, for

         11  streets, for sidewalks, et cetera.

         12                 The Sanitation would then be forced

         13  to answer why recycling rates are so low and

         14  enforcement action would result accordingly.

         15                 Until then, however, business owners

         16  will continue to flout the commercial recycling law

         17  because they rarely are issued summonses for failure

         18  to comply with that law.

         19                 They did mention 11,000 summonses

         20  given in '98, 10,500 in Fiscal Year '99, you know, I

         21  don't want to put an overburden on businesses in the

         22  City, but if they are not complying with the law, I

         23  see no reason for them to shun their nose at it in

         24  any way, shape or form.

         25                 The third factor, and the one I want
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          2  to focus on in my remaining time, is the fact that

          3  the City has been woefully remiss in its efforts to

          4  promote the development of recycling-related

          5  manufacturing around the City. By encouraging these

          6  types of businesses to locate here, the City would

          7  increase the demand for materials found within the

          8  commercial waste stream within the region. By

          9  purchasing the products made by these businesses the

         10  City would help immunize itself from the business

         11  decisions that are being made outside of the City,

         12  Waste Management in Texas and Allied Waste officials

         13  in the southwest, Arizona, I believe.

         14                 The City's failure in this area is

         15  particularly puzzling because success stories

         16  related to the recycling-related economic

         17  development are easy to find. Indeed, Staten Island,

         18  the VISY paper mill has been a great success, and is

         19  often used in the Department of Sanitation, solid

         20  waste advertising as, you know, this is one of our

         21  great success stories. If it is a great success

         22  story, then they are going about it the wrong way as

         23  far as continuation of this into other industries

         24  that could relocate here or expand those that exist.

         25                 Why isn't a similar effort being
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          2  expended to bring companies that can either carry

          3  recyclable carpeting, electronic products, actually

          4  you mention the grease situation, there is also food

          5  composting on an institutional level, not on a

          6  residential level, institutional level, it has some

          7  bearing, it has some validity that can't be denied.

          8  And why isn't the City establishing competitions

          9  within the industrial designers to find new uses for

         10  scrap wood generated by more than the 1,400

         11  woodworking firms that currently exist around the

         12  City.

         13                 I can continue but the basic point is

         14  obviously made, commercial recycling can work, but

         15  only to the extent that there is demand for the

         16  materials being generated by local businesses. By

         17  working to bring recycled product manufacturing

         18  businesses to the City, we can kickstart, jumpstart

         19  the demand and revert the unhappy trend which we are

         20  learning about today.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You make some

         22  good comments, and I thank you very much.

         23                 Are there any questions?

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 MR. COHEN: I thank you for the
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          2  hearing. I think it is a very important aspect of

          3  not only the commercial regs, it is an important

          4  educational tool as well for, I think John mentioned

          5  it as well, people get very disenchanted, they throw

          6  their -- they are up in the office, they are on the

          7  40th floor of their office building, they thrown

          8  their paper into, let's say by the copy machine or

          9  at their desk, they go down stairs and they see it

         10  dumped in a single truck. Sometimes it may be

         11  post-collected but they don't know that.

         12                 And I think source separation, if it

         13  is source separated, it has to remain in the minds

         14  of everyone. If they are doing it at home, doing it

         15  at work, they don't want to see the --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What you are

         17  saying I think is a good point, that a lot of the

         18  residential recycling depends on people's good

         19  feelings and goodwill, and keeping the morale up and

         20  continue to do it, and that an abuse of this system,

         21  of the commercial, could have a deleterious affect

         22  on the residential.

         23                 MR. COHEN: Yes. The educational tool

         24  is very important. People are doing it, even if they

         25  are commuters from outside of the City, they are
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          2  doing it pretty much home. In certain cases it is

          3  very obvious at their business, in certain cases it

          4  is not. There are problems with custodial staffs as

          5  well in certain buildings, and the education that

          6  goes into that as well.

          7                 But one of the things actually I saw

          8  in the videotape that they showed us earlier, it was

          9  a subway platform and it showed recycling bins on

         10  subway platform. I am sorry, that is kind of false

         11  advertising on the Department's part and I would

         12  like to see public space recycling, the MTA get

         13  involved and the Department of Parks.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I agree with

         15  you, because we have found the most uncooperative

         16  agencies, as far as recycling is concerned, is the

         17  MTA.

         18                 MR. COHEN: No doubt.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we can't get

         20  them to clean up their stations.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Mr.

         22  Chairman, if I could also just add a comment, in

         23  private residential areas, one and two-family homes,

         24  we have seen maybe four sweeps by the Department,

         25  fining people for mixing, for not properly
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          2  recycling. And while we are doing that to the little

          3  guy, the big guys who actually I think can control

          4  what they are doing, and especially with things like

          5  paper and so on, they are getting away with murder

          6  here.

          7                 MR. COHEN: No argument there.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: It doesn't

          9  make sense. And considering the amount that they put

         10  into the waste stream, this is ridiculous. And

         11  particularly if a firm does on-site recycling,

         12  source recycling, and then to have it mixed up in

         13  the truck, that doesn't make much sense at all.

         14                 MR. COHEN: I don't want to, you know,

         15  totally -- if a homeowner is single family or a

         16  high-rise building in Manhattan, if they are not

         17  doing their part, I don't want to exonerate them

         18  from their obligations to the law --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I didn't say

         20  that.

         21                 MR. COHEN: -- And to the other

         22  citizens of the City.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: You didn't

         24  hear me say that.

         25                 I am just saying it should be
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          2  even-handed and we should be doing that with larger

          3  firms.

          4                 Obviously, if we dropped on the

          5  residential level to four percent, I mean the City

          6  would explode, okay? I mean, you would see

          7  hemorrhages all over the place, and yet we are

          8  allowing it with the commercial industry   and that

          9  doesn't make sense.

         10                 MR. COHEN: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Allegedly.

         12                 MR. COHEN: Anyway, thank you for your

         13  time.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Mr. Cohen,

         15  thank you for your testimony. I pride myself on

         16  having been one of the original co-sponsors of the

         17  Chairman's recycling bill and the Council's bill,

         18  and I think it is one of the most important pieces

         19  of legislation that I had voted on in my two years

         20  in office.

         21                 I also take note in your testimony,

         22  you refer to the VISY paper mill, which I think is a

         23  wonderful institution, it provides jobs, and more

         24  importantly it provides a diversion of this and

         25  there is a sustainable market.
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          2                 I note that you and others have

          3  suggested that the City isn't doing enough to create

          4  I guess what I call this emerging industry of the

          5  21st century, as I suspect most municipalities and

          6  states around the nation aren't. You use an example

          7  of woodworking firms. Do you have any empirical data

          8  on this type of specialized area, or any other,

          9  outside of paper, do you have any data that would

         10  suggest that creating such an industry here in New

         11  York City would be sustainable?

         12                 Because there is a business component

         13  to recycling whether we want to admit it or not.

         14                 MR. COHEN: No doubt, yes. And if the

         15  bucks aren't there, no one is going to jump at the

         16  opportunity of it, even with subsidy or with seed

         17  money that might be given from either EDC or from

         18  the state or whatever the case may be.

         19                 I think there is, I think there also

         20  is -- the fact of if you have a raw material, not a

         21  virgin material but a raw material within the

         22  boundaries of New York City, I don't have the

         23  empirical data, I can get that for you. But I just

         24  anecdotally and just logistically, sending this

         25  material either for disposal or sending it to an
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          2  area far away to be remanufactured and then sent

          3  back to New York as a final product.

          4                 I just think you just, through common

          5  sense you know that if you can keep it within the

          6  boundaries of New York City or in the metropolitan

          7  region, and have it remanufactured here, we can

          8  start exporting something outside of New York City

          9  other than trash. Which is a major export of not

         10  only New York City but Long Island as well now. I

         11  mean, trash has surpassed ducks, potatos, fish.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is an issue

         13  so close to my heart. We have been talking about

         14  this for years since I began as the Chairman of this

         15  Committee, because we believe creating a demand for

         16  recyclable materials is extremely important in the

         17  success in the recycling industry and we could do so

         18  much more in plastics and so much more in other

         19  places, because we are a merchant center, we are a

         20  harbor where we can export things and we just don't

         21  do enough and we haven't encouraged enough of it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Well, Mr.

         23  Cohen, I think you make some very salient points and

         24  this hearing is certainly worthwhile because it

         25  gives us now a direction where we should be heading
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          2  as we move into the 21st century and that is where

          3  we need to study these other areas and look at the

          4  potential emerging industry and see what it is going

          5  to cost, both in terms to a business owner and if

          6  there are subsidies involved we need to know that as

          7  well, because we have a fiduciary responsibility.

          8                 MR. COHEN: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: These industries

         10  exist outside of New York City, especially in

         11  Europe, and we just don't have them in here.

         12                 MR. COHEN: Yes, I have some empirical

         13  data that I can give you, and I will send it to the

         14  Committee chair and in particular to your office.

         15  Some of this stuff I did condense for this, but it

         16  is available.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very,

         18  very much.

         19                 Mr. Fiala, thank you also.

         20                 Nancy Walby, is she here? Not here.

         21  She must have left.

         22                 Is there anyone else who wants to say

         23  a few words? We have 15 minutes.

         24                 No one else?

         25                 Well, we thank you all for coming. To
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          2  be continued. It is a very important hearing.

          3                 Thank you. The meeting is adjourned.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 12:45 p.m.)
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